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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM
GEM 245t

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies
and should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded
on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept
full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
GEM Listing Rules for the purpose of giving information with regard to
the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive and there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or
this report misleading.

Unless otherwise stated, all monetary figures are expressed in SGD.
Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this report have
been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly, figures shown as
totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the
figures preceding them. Expressions used throughout this report have
their meanings set out in the section headed “Definitions and Glossary
of Technical Terms”.

This report will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information”
page of the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk for at
least 7 days from the date of its publication. This report will also be
published on the Company’s website at www.sunlightpaper.com.sg.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
XS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual report and
the audited financial statements of the Group for FY2022.

In the Relevant Year and the Previous Year, the Singapore
government fought the spread of COVID-19. Restrictions on
commercial activities were imposed and lifted repeatedly throughout
these two years in response to the continuous increases and
decreases in COVID-19 infection rates.

Our business is directly related to the level of commercial activities.
Our monthly revenue in these two years were not stable, in response
to the COVID-19 restrictions applicable in the respective months.

Our revenue in the Relevant Year ended up similar to the Previous
Year. Our cost of purchase increased disproportionately due to
worldwide inflation. Despite adjusting our selling prices, this impacted
our gross profit in the Relevant Year.

Our delivery to customers were not affected because we adhered
strictly to Singapore government’s COVID-19 directives on safety
measures. Our supply chain was also not interrupted. We monitored
the COVID-19 status of our vendors closely.

PERFORMANCE

Our revenue increased slightly by 2.2% from $11.8 million in FY2021
to $12.0 million in FY2022.

Gross profit reduced slightly by 3.5% from $2.9 million in FY2021 to
$2.8 million in FY2022. This is due to worldwide inflation.

Our profit increased by 5.7% from $246,000 in FY2021 to $260,000
in FY2022. This was mainly due to changes in tax estimates in
respect of prior years.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEBE

PROSPECTS

Singapore government is prepared to face the evolving variants of
COVID-19. The latest COVID-19 vaccines are quickly available.
COVID-19 healthcare protocols are well established.

We are confident in recovering our revenue as the consumption of
tissue products is directly related to the level of commercial activities.

QOver the past 45 years, we have built strong ties with customers and
suppliers. We provide quality products to our customers and maintain
product delivery satisfaction.

We will continue to evaluate development opportunities to strengthen
our competitive advantage and market-leading position. We monitor
new tissue product developments, continue to source for good
quality tissue paper and tissue products with competitive pricing, and
keep a look out for other tissue-related products.

We are optimistic about achieving sustainable growth and we are
committed to bring greater returns to our Shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | express my sincere gratitude to our
management and staff for their hard work and dedication as well as
to our Shareholders and business partners for their support.

Chua Liang Sie
Chairman and Executive Director
Singapore, 16.12.2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW

We supply tissue products to corporate customers in Singapore. We
provide comprehensive services, ranging from advising the types and
specifications of tissue products, sourcing suitable products,
conducting quality control, delivery of products through our fleet of
delivery trucks, to providing after-sales services.

Our revenue is mainly from the sale of: (i) tissue products, (i) hygiene-
related products, and (iii) other related products.

Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic

Our revenue is directly related to the level of commercial activities.
The Singapore government restricted commercial activities to curtalil
the local spread of COVID-19. This resulted in customers ordering
less quantities of tissue products.

During the Relevant Year, restrictions on commercial activities were
gradually lifted in response to decrease in COVID-19 infection rates.
This resulted in customers ordering more quantities of tissue
products.

Impact on operations

During the Relevant Year, there was no impact on our delivery of
tissue products to customers and our receipt of tissue products from
vendors. There is a risk that our employees may be infected with
COVID-19 affecting the delivery of tissue products to our customers.
We countered this risk by appointing external logistics service
providers on standby. There is a risk that our vendors are shut down
due to COVID-19 infection at their factories. We countered this risk by
stocking up more tissue products and by appointing multiple vendors
spread over different countries.

Impact on financial results

Our revenue for the Relevant Year was $12.0 million, an increase of
2.2% against the Previous Year. Our profit for the Relevant Year was
$260,000, an increase of 5.7% against the Previous Year. This was
mainly due to changes in tax estimates in respect of prior years, not
due to COVID-19.

Impact on liquidity and working capital

We continue to generate positive operating profit before working capital
changes in the Relevant Year. Together with net current assets of $2.8
million at 30.9.2022, we have sufficient funds for working capital
requirements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic (Continued)

Management of COVID-19 pandemic

Our principal business to supply tissue products to corporate
customers remains unchanged because tissue products are daily
necessities. Our delivery of tissue products to our customers via our
own fleet of trucks also remains unchanged. Our overall strategy in
this pandemic is to avoid self-inflicted interruptions to our operations.
All our employees are already vaccinated against COVID-19.
Additionally:

° We adhere strictly to Singapore government’s directives on
COVID-19 restrictions.

° We regularly test our logistics team for COVID-19 infection and
sanitise working areas and delivery trucks to avoid shut down of
our operations.

° We maintain close communication with our vendors to ensure
continuous supply of tissue products.

° We monitor operating cost and administration expenses closely.

° We have unutilised banking facilities of $4,000,000 on standby.

PROSPECTS

We are optimistic that our industry in Singapore will recover from the
impact of COVID-19 pandemic. Singapore government is prepared to
face the evolving variants of COVID-19. The latest COVID-19 vaccines
are quickly available. COVID-19 healthcare protocols are well
established.

We are confident in recovering our revenue because tissue products
are daily necessities.

Over the past 45 years, we have built strong ties with customers and
suppliers. We provide quality products to our customers and maintain
product delivery satisfaction.

We will continue to evaluate development opportunities to strengthen
our competitive advantage and market-leading position. We monitor
new tissue product developments, continue to source for good
quality tissue paper and tissue products with competitive pricing, and
keep a look out for other tissue-related products.

We are optimistic about achieving sustainable growth and we are
committed to bring greater returns to our Shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW Bt %5 [ B
Revenue g
Hygiene-
Tissue related
products products Others Total
BEEER FEEHBER Hitt @t
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
r Fr Tr Tr
FY2022 2022 BEE
Revenue from external customers KEIMEE PRz R
and reportable segment revenue A2RH PR 10,579 878 563 12,020
Segment profit kYl 2,343 332 107 2,782
FY2021 2021 I EE
Revenue from external customers KEIMEE PRz R
and reportable segment revenue BEEGile 9,740 1,049 977 11,766
Segment profit AR 2,396 436 51 2,883

The revenue for the Relevant Year was $12.0 million, representing an
increase of $0.2 million or 2.2% against the Previous Year revenue of
$11.8 million. During the Relevant Year, restrictions on commercial
activities were gradually lifted in response to decrease in COVID-19
infection rates. This resulted in customers ordering more quantities of
tissue products.

° Sales of tissue products increased by $0.8 million, representing
an increase of 8.6%. This was due to lifting of COVID-19
restrictions.

o Sales of hygiene-related products decreased by $0.2 million,
representing a decrease of 16.3%. This was due to decrease in
COVID-19 infection rates.

° Sales of other products decreased by $0.4 million, representing
a decrease of 42.4%.

° Throughout the Relevant Year, we adjusted our selling prices to
match the cost of inventory as we adopt a cost-plus pricing
policy. There were no interruption to the supply of inventory
despite COVID-19.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales increased from $8.9 million to $9.2 million from the
Previous Year to the Relevant Year, representing an increase of 4.0%.
The overall increase in cost of sales corresponded with the increase
in revenue.

Gross Profit

Gross profit decreased by 3.5% from $2.9 million in the Previous Year
to $2.8 million in the Relevant Year. Gross profit margin decreased by
136 basis points, from 24.5% in the Previous Year to 23.1% in the
Relevant Year. This is due to worldwide inflation.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased from $1.4 million to $1.5
million from the Previous Year to the Relevant Year, representing an
increase of 2.4%. This increase corresponded with the increase in
revenue.

Administrative Expenses
Administrative expenses decreased from $1.5 million to $1.4 million
from the Previous Year to the Relevant Year representing a decrease
of 7.7%, due to reduced cost controls measures implemented to
counter the effects of COVID-19.

Taxation

In the Relevant Year, taxation was a credit of $232,000. In 2019,
construction commenced for the extension of the existing factory
building. However, capital allowance for the extension of the existing
factory building was approved only in the Relevant Year. This resulted
in changes in the Relevant Year to the tax estimates of prior financial
years.

In the Previous Year, taxation was a credit of $99,000. This was
mainly due to adjustments of deferred taxation in prior financial years.

Results for the Year
Profit attributable to the owners of the Company was $260,000 in the
Relevant Year, increased from $246,000 in the Previous Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 30.9.2022, the Group had total assets of $19.2 million (2021:
$21.0 million), which was financed by total liabilities of $2.8 million
(2021: $5.0 million) and shareholders’ equity (comprising share
capital, share premium and reserves) of $16.4 million (2021: $16.0
million). The current ratio as at 30.9.2022 of the Group was 2.8 times
(2021: 1.7 times). During the Relevant Year, cash and bank balances
were used for repayment of borrowings.

Trade debtor and trade creditor turnover in the Relevant Year were
57.3 days (2021: 49.4 days) and 25.3 days (2021: 28.0 days)
respectively. During the Relevant Year, we managed trade receivables
aggressively.

As at 30.9.2022, the Group had cash and bank balances of $0.8
million (2021: $3.7 million) which were placed with major banks in
Singapore and Hong Kong. The cash and bank balances were mainly
denominated in SGD.

The total interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group as at
30.9.2022 was $9,000 (2021: $0.1 million). The bank borrowings
were denominated in SGD and carried an annual interest rate of 3%
(2021: denominated in SGD and carried an annual interest rate of
3%). The gearing ratio (calculated based on net debt divided by total
capital plus net debt, whereby net debt comprises borrowings, trade
and other payables and lease liability, less cash and cash equivalents)
of the Group as of 30.9.2022 was 5% (2021: 1%).

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group transacts mainly in SGD, which is the functional currency
of all the Group’s operating subsidiaries. The Group is of the opinion
that its exposure to foreign exchange rate risk is limited. Nevertheless,
the management monitors closely the Group’s foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital
Assets

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have other
plans for material investments or capital assets as of 30.9.2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

In the Relevant Year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions
or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

Significant Investments Held
The Group did not hold any significant investments in the Relevant
Year (2021: nil).

Contingent Liabilities
As at 30.9.2022, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities (2021 nil).

Capital Commitments

As at 30.9.2022, the Group committed to capital expenditure of $0.3
million (2021: $0.5 million) for the purchase of production
machineries.

Employee and Remuneration Policy
As at 30.9.2022, the Group had an aggregate of 28 employees (2021:
27).

The employees of the Group are remunerated according to their job
scope and responsibilities. All employees are also entitled to
discretionary bonus depending on their respective performance. The
details are set out under the section headed “Emolument Policy” of
this annual report.

Total staff costs in the Relevant Year, including Directors’
emoluments, amounted to $2.1 million (2021: $2.2 million).

The Group did not experience any significant problem with our
employees or disruptions to our operations due to labour disputes,
nor did the Group experience any difficulty in the recruitment and
retention of experienced employees. The Group continues to maintain
a good relationship with our employees.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme, details are set
out under the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this annual
report. The Group also provides and arranges on-the-job training for
the employees.

Charge on Group Assets
The bank borrowings were secured by the Group’s building on
leasehold land and a corporate guarantee from the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFNWR DM

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the Share Offer were $4.6 million, which was
based on the gross proceeds from the Share Offer less the actual
expenses related to the Listing. Subsequent to the Listing and the
announcement entitled “Change in use of proceeds” dated 5.3.2019
(the “Announcement”), these proceeds will be used for the purposes

in accordance with the future plans as set out below:

e RERE

"rEAz] 2E(RAED%R

RERMDEEMSHBELBREGE LT ZER
M E - o8& TS 58 $ 58 & 4,600,000
TLe RN EMEBEA2019F3 A5HM [ B 2FT

% E IR

R EARIE T XA RGBT

Use of proceeds
FrgsoERE
Expected
timeframe of
full utilisation
Actual of unutilised
As disclosed in the Unutilised use of Unutilised amount from
Prospectus and amount proceeds amount  the Share Offer
subsequently adjusted Percentage of asat during the asat asat
in the Announcement net proceeds 1.10.2021  Relevant Year 30.9.2022 30.9.2022
R2022%F
9A30A
R2021%  ABFER 20225 BHBARG
REARSEMHEE FEsE  10A1AK WEBHE  9B30AKM  BEADALE
REAZLEHIR BEEAL  ADALE BERRZ ADRSE HEBRER
Description HK$'000 S§'000 $$'000 8000 8§00
i FhT THT T FH FH
Upgrade our conversion line FREEREREER
for the production of HERe Fully utiized
jumbo roll tissue 6,200 940 20.7% - - - FEHA
Acaquire a new conversion ling BE-ENERREE Fully utilized
for the production of hand towels (Note) ~ #F 4 (FifE) 1,300 4.3% 132 132 - FHEA
Extension of existing factory BEEAIBAER
building and purchase lifting BERERXE(HF) Fully utilized
equipment (Note) 19,500 2,958 65.0% - - - G- el
Working capital and other general CEARREM—K Fully utilized
corporate purposes xR 3,000 455 10.0% - - - ForCf
Total st Fully utilized
30,000 4,550 100.0% 132 132 - ZEBHA

Note: As disclosed in the Announcement, the Board resolved to utilise the net
proceeds originally allocated for the investment in an additional factory
building to the extension of the existing factory building. The proceeds
were utilised according to the intentions and expected timeframe ZAERBENEORERRELRDE KRTEE
previously disclosed in the Prospectus and the Announcement, except
for acquisition of a new conversion line for the production of hand

COVID-19 ML &L -

towers because the completion of the factory extension was delayed

due to COVID-19.

MiE - RN EMKE  EESEBABREDRIE
BE 5 —E TR ATS FORF AR EER
BIBAE - FABFRERELINNABRERER

B ERREERTFRARASIRERZEA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEFWR DM

COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES
WITH ACTUAL PROGRESS

As at 30.9.2022, there has not yet been material progress in respect
of the business objectives related to the commercial production of
jumbo roll tissues and hand towels set out in the Prospectus because
the factory, where such commercial production was to be carried out,
was being extended, as explained in the Announcement. The
completion of the factory extension was delayed due to COVID-19.

The following is a comparison of the Group’s business objectives as
set out in the Prospectus and the Announcement with actual
progress for the Relevant Year.

Implementation plan Scheduled activities for
as disclosed in Prospectus  the Relevant Year as disclosed
and subsequently adjusted  in the Prospectus

EREREEREENLER

M2022F9H30H - ABREERMFAE@AS
REEARAKFANEEENEBEEMS - K
EEXNERE  REARETHEAEMTEHIRE
fEHEE (M A ERT) - THIEZERECOVID-19
fiEEE T o

NI RBERERRZASAHASENEN BT
HERFECEREROLR -

in the Announcement and the Announcement Actual activities achieved for the Relevant Year
BAREBEERHEANZDY BREBRZADEIRER

EHENERTE FRFENREED REREENERES

Upgrade our conversion line for e Commercial production of o No activities

the production of jumbo roll jumbo roll tissues by the

tissues upgraded conversion line

AREERSEFERNEHR o HARNBREEELEERSE o BEFH

R REAER

Acquire a new production line Commercial production of hand e

for the production of hand towels

towels

BERTEEREERTH o KFARFELEE .
Extension of existing factory o Completion of factory extension e
building and purchase lifting o Purchased lifting equipment
equipment (Note)

BERAIRAER o IRERETL .
FEERERE (M) e HBERERE

Fully utilised allocated proceeds for payment of the
new production line for the production of hand
towels.

BEHRNENABIA T EEREERTH -

Construction works to extend the factory completed
and occupation permit received

IRREIRCEN  CRGERFTE

Note: As disclosed in the Announcement, the Board resolved to utilise the net
proceeds originally allocated for the investment in an additional factory
building to the extension of the existing factory building. For details,
please refer to the Announcement.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

ESERGREEE[N

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chua Liang Sie, aged 63, is our executive Director, Chairman and
chief executive officer of our Company, who joined our Group in July
1982. He is the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee. He was appointed as our Director on
21.9.2017, and was re-designated as our executive Director and was
also appointed as our Chairman and chief executive officer on
30.10.2017. Mr. LS Chua is also a director of certain subsidiaries. Mr. LS
Chua is responsible for formulating the overall strategies and planning of
our Group. Mr. LS Chua is a director of YJH Group and is a Substantial
Shareholder.

Mr. LS Chua has over 40 years of experience in the tissue product
industry for corporate customers. In July 1982, Mr. LS Chua joined
Sunlight Paper as production manager, where he was responsible for
the production of conventional roll tissue, and was also appointed as
a director of Sunlight Paper. He became the managing director of
Sunlight Paper in February 1990 and since then, he is responsible for
the business strategies, planning and management of Sunlight Paper.
Mr. LS Chua completed secondary education in Singapore in 1975.

Mr. LS Chua is the elder brother of Mr. LC Chua, and the father of
Mr. WH Chua and Mr. WJ Chua.

Mr. Chua Liang Chui, aged 61, is our executive Director and sales
director, who joined our Group in July 1982. He was appointed as
Director on 21.9.2017 and was redesignated as our executive
Director on 30.10.2017. Mr. LC Chua is also a director of certain
subsidiaries. He is responsible for sales and marketing of our Group.
Mr. LC Chua is a director of YJH Group and is a Substantial
Shareholder.

Mr. LC Chua has over 40 years of experience in the tissue product
industry for corporate customers. Mr. LC Chua joined Sunlight Paper
as logistics manager and was appointed as a director of Sunlight
Paper in July 1982. In October 1996, he was promoted to be
warehouse manager, and he served as sales manager in Sunlight
Paper from October 2006 to September 2010. Since October 2010,
Mr. LC Chua has been the sales director of Sunlight Paper and is
responsible for sales and marketing of our products for Sunlight
Paper. Mr. LC Chua completed secondary education in Singapore in
1977.

Mr. LC Chua is the younger brother of Mr. LS Chua and uncle of Mr.
WH Chua and Mr. WJ Chua.

HITES

BRERE 63 RITEF ERFARAT
BREH - R1982F 7 AIMAARSEE - HARIREZE
BeXIERTMEBSRE - HHR2017F9A
1AEZAARES - M 2017F 10 A0 AFAMF
WITES  TEZTAERRITHREH - BRE
FENRBETHBEARINES - ZRBAERE
BIETASERERE LA - BERE XA AYIH
EEEERFERRE -

BREAANCERFEEREMERERIF
4B o 19824 7 A ¢ B R 8 5E 4 i A Sunlight
Paper BEEEKRE  AEEREFRGEREE
T 4& + Y& Z 1 /5 Sunlight Paper 8 3= - K7
1990 4F 2 5 A /5 Sunlight Paper #) & % 48 48 I8 -
B It & & Sunlight Paper F) 275505 - 3B R E
B o HRBHEEN1975 EEF N K P EH

5o

BRBELERERBELENM A NEOERER
BEXNFEMIR -

BRPEE 61 BITEFRIFEELE N
1982F 7 A MAAREE « 20174 9H21H
BRI ASEE  BKR2017F10 830 BATHT
BEZ - ERPEENARETHBRATNESE - #
BEAREEBEERMISEHIE BRBEER
YIHEEESERFERR -

BERPEENCERFPHERERERBRIF
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERGREEEZN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao), aged 38, is our executive
Director and deputy chief executive officer, who joined our Group in
September 2013. He was appointed as Director on 21.9.2017. On
30.10.2017, he was re-designated as our executive Director and was
appointed as the deputy chief executive officer. Mr. WH Chua is also
a director of certain subsidiaries. He is responsible for assisting the
chief executive officer and implementing strategies of our Group.

Mr. WH Chua joined as sales manager of Sunlight Paper in
September 2013 and was responsible for sales of products for
Sunlight Paper. Prior to joining our Group, from November 2010 to
June 2012, Mr. WH Chua worked at HSBC in the HSBC Graduate
Internship Programme. Mr. WH Chua obtained a bachelor’s degree in
business management from Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology
University in August 2010.

Mr. WH Chua is the son of Mr. LS Chua, the nephew of Mr. LC Chua
and the elder brother of Mr. WJ Chua.

Mr. Chua Wenjie (alias Cai Wenjie), aged 35, is our executive
Director and deputy sales director, who joined our Group in July
2014. He was appointed as executive Director on 9.9.2021. Mr. WJ
Chua is also a director of Sunlight Paper. He is responsible for
assisting the sales director to implement marketing strategies of
Sunlight Paper. He is also responsible for sales of products for
Sunlight Paper.

Mr. WJ Chua joined as sales manager of Sunlight Paper in July 2014
and was responsible for sales of products for Sunlight Paper. Prior to
joining our Group, from July 2011 to June 2014, Mr. WJ Chua
worked at Hong Leong Finance Limited as branch manager. Mr. WJ
Chua obtained a bachelor honours degree in banking and finance
from the University of London (Singapore Institute of Management) in
June 2011.

Mr. WJ Chua is the son of Mr. LS Chua, the nephew of Mr. LC Chua
and the younger brother of Mr. WH Chua.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

ESERGREEE[N

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie (“Mr. Ng”), aged 56, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 28.2.2019. He is a
member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Ng is currently a director of ABBPE Capital Management Pte Ltd.
Mr. Ng has over 25 years of experience in accounting, audit and
advisory services.

Mr. Ng obtained a bachelor of accountancy from the National
University of Singapore in July 1990. He had worked in various
financial institutions as a tax officer, audit senior and investment
research analyst.

Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia (“Ms. Lye”), aged 55, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 28.2.2019. She is the
chairlady of our Audit Committee.

Ms. Lye is currently a director of Youngone International Asia Pte Ltd.
Ms. Lye has over 25 years of experience in accounting, audit and
finance. Ms. Lye had worked as, among others, audit senior,
accountant, finance and administration manager, financial controller
and finance and administration director in various institutions.

Ms. Lye obtained a bachelor of accountancy from the National
University of Singapore in July 1989, and became a Chartered
Accountant of Singapore in April 2014.

Mr. Tog Chek Soon (“Mr. Tog”), aged 56, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 27.11.2020. He is a member
of each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Tog is currently the Asia Sales Director of AMETEK Singapore Pte
Ltd. He has over 30 years of experience in the sale and marketing of
electrical components and equipment. Mr. Tog obtained a bachelor
of engineering (electrical) from the National University of Singapore in
June 1989, a graduate diploma in marketing from the Marketing
Institute of Singapore in May 1992 and a degree of master of
business administration from Cranfield University School of
Management in June 1994.

Mr. Tog is experienced in business culture across Asia by marketing
electrical components and equipment from European and American
manufacturers to customers in Asia including the ASEAN countries,
Australia, China, India, Japan and New Zealand.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERGREEEZN

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Choy Tuck Leong (“Mr. Choy”), aged 57, joined our Group in

July 2017 and is our chief financial officer and company secretary.
Mr. Choy is responsible for overseeing the overall corporate and
financial matters of our Group.

Mr. Choy has approximately 35 years of experience in audit and
corporate finance. Mr. Choy obtained a bachelor’s degree of
accountancy from The National University of Singapore in June 1988.
He is a member and a fellow chartered accountant of the Institute of
Singapore Chartered Accountants since December 1992 and
November 2004, respectively. He is also a fellow certified public
accountant of CPA Australia since January 2010.

Ms. See Ai Kiok (“Ms. See”), aged 62, joined our Group in October
2009 as accounts executive. Ms. See is the head of human resources
of Sunlight Paper since October 2014. She is responsible for human
resources, accounts and administrative matters. Ms. See has over 30
years of experience in accounting and human resources. She
completed the London Chamber of Commerce and Industry
International Qualifications course in 1980.

Mr. Goh Kuang Song (“Mr. Goh”), aged 57, joined our Group as
warehouse manager in December 1993. Mr. Goh is the head of
logistics of Sunlight Paper since October 2006. Mr. Goh, has over 25
years of experience in logistics and is responsible for managing
warehouse and logistics matters.

Mr. Yong Ning Choy (“Mr. Yong”), aged 51, joined our Group as
machine operator in June 1998 and he is the head of production of
Sunlight Paper since October 2007. Mr. Yong has over 20 years of
experience in production and is responsible for overseeing production
of our tissue products.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. WH Chua is our compliance officer. He is also an executive
Director. Please see “Executive Directors” section for Mr. WH Chua’s
qualifications and experience.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREABE

The Board believes that good corporate governance is essential for
efficient and effective management of our business to safeguard the
interest of our stakeholders and achieve the highest return for our
Shareholders. The Company’s corporate governance practices are
based on the principles and code provisions as set out in the CG
Code. The Company has adopted and complied with, where
applicable, the CG Code during the Relevant Year, to ensure that the
Group’s business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner, save for the deviation from
Code Provision C.2.1 as stipulated below.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. LS Chua is our Chairman and
also the chief executive officer of our Company. Since February 1990,
Mr. LS Chua has been the key leadership figure of our Group who
has been primarily involved in the formulation of business strategies
and determination of the overall direction of our Group. He is also
responsible for overseeing our Group’s operations and directly
supervises our senior management. Having considered that (i) Mr. LS
Chua’s contribution and familiarity with the operations of our Group
which is beneficial to the management and business development of
our Group, (i) major decisions are made in consultation with members
of the Board and relevant Board committees, and (iii) there are three
independent non-executive Directors on our Board offering
independent perspectives, our Board is of the view that there is an
appropriate balance of powers and authorities between our Board
and the management of our Company and that it is in the interest of
our Group to have Mr. LS Chua to continue taking up both roles. Our
Board will continue to review and consider separation of the roles of
the Chairman and the chief executive officer as and when appropriate
by taking into account the circumstances of our Group as a whole.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CREARRE

COMPLIANCE OF CODE OF CONDUCT FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Required Standard of Dealings.
Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all the Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the Required Standard of
Dealings during the Relevant Year.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

In order to maintain a clear delineation of the businesses between our
Group and our Controlling Shareholders, the latter have entered into
the Deed of Non-competition in favour of our Company (for ourselves
and as trustee for each of our subsidiaries from time to time) to the
effect that each of them will not, and will procure each of their
respective close associates not to, directly or indirectly participate in,
or hold any right or interest, or otherwise be involved in any business
which may be in competition with our businesses.

For details of the Deed of Non-competition, please refer to the section
headed “Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders — Deed of
Non-competition” in the Prospectus.

The Company has received a written confirmation from the Controlling
Shareholders that they have complied with the terms of the Deed of
Non-Competition during the Relevant Year. The independent non-
executive Directors have also reviewed the status of compliance and
written confirmation from the Controlling Shareholders, and noted
that all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-Competition have
been complied with by each of the Controlling Shareholders during
the Relevant Year.
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CREABE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Group’s business is vested in the
Board which assumes the responsibility of leadership and control of
the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Group by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors make
decisions objectively in the interests of the Group.

The Board formulates strategies and sets directions for the Group’s
activities to develop its business and enhance Shareholders’ value.
The Board also assumes the responsibilities for maintaining high
standard of corporate governance, including among others, reviewing
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance, and
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

The Board has established the Board Committees with specific
written terms of reference which deal clearly with the Committees’
authority and duties. Details of the respective Committees’ terms of
reference are available at the respective websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Group are delegated to the executive Directors and the senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board for significant
transactions.

Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised seven
Directors of which four are executive Directors and three are
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the Board
is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chua Liang Sie (Chairman)

Mr. Chua Liang Chui

Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao)
Mr. Chua Wenijie (alias Cai Wenjie)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie

Mr. Tog Chek Soon

Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Composition (Continued)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this annual
report.

The family relationship between the Directors (where applicable) are
set out under the respective names of the Directors in the section
headed “Definitions and Glossary of Technical Terms” of this annual
report. Save for such relationship disclosed in the section headed
“Definitions and Glossary of Technical Terms” of this annual report,
there is no other financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among the members of the Board.

Throughout the Relevant Year and to the date of this report, the
Board at all times met the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors, accounting for at least one-third of the Board,
with at least one independent non-executive director possessing the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Board
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent and meet the requirements set out in Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules as at the date of this annual report.

Roles and Responsibility of the Board

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the Group,
which includes controlling resources allocation within the Group and
leading the Group to strive for success. It oversees the Group’s
businesses, strategic decisions, internal control, risk management
and performances.

The management team is delegated with the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the daily management of the Group.
The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed.
Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the Board
to the management include (1) the preparation of quarterly, interim
and annual reports and announcements for the Board’s approval
before publishing; (2) implementation of adequate systems of internal
controls and risk management procedures; and (3) compliance with
relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and rules and
regulations.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Roles and Responsibility of the Board (Continued)

It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate
corporate governance practices applicable to the Company’s
circumstances and to ensure processes and procedures are in place
to achieve the Company’s corporate governance objectives.

Board/Board Committee Meetings

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Company, and to
review and approve the Company’s quarterly, interim and annual
results. Regular Board meetings for each year are scheduled in
advance to facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14
days’ notice is given for a regular Board meeting. All Directors are
given an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda.
The company secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda
for meetings to comply with all applicable rules and regulations. The
agenda and the accompanying board papers are normally sent to
Directors at least three days before the intended date of a Board
meeting. Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to
Directors for their comment before being tabled at the next Board
meeting for approval. The minutes are kept by the company secretary
and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable
notice by any Director.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued) BEEgwm

Attendance Records of Directors and Committee BEERLZEENELFERLE
Members

The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Committee MNAEBFEASTEEHFEETGNTEGERN
meetings and at the AGM during the Relevant Year are as follows: MR A F RGN T

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend
HE/ AERERERNAR

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Director Board Committee Committee Committee AGM
= EEg ENZES FMWEEE REEZEE RRATAE
Executive Directors HTES

Mr. Chua Liang Sie ERBLL 44 NATER 11 il 11
Mr. Chua Liang Chui ERPRE 4/4  N/ATER NATER  NATER 1/1
Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao) %30 4% 4 44 N/ATGER NATER  NATEA i
Mr. Chua Wenijie (alias Cai Wenjie) — Z A%k 4% 4/4  NATER NATER  NATER 11
Independent non-executive BYFHITES

Directors

Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie ENREE 4/4 4/4 1/1 11 11
Mr. Tog Chek Soon mEElELEE 4/4 4/4 1/1 11 1/1
Ms. Lye Kneng Joke Sylvia RIRER L 4/4 4/4 NATER  NATER 11

Total meeting(s) held during the REEFERNRTH
Relevant Year R 4 4 1 1 1
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The executive Directors have entered into service agreements with
the Company for a fixed term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date and/or the appointment date, respectively and will
continue thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing sent by either party to the other. Each of the
independent non-executive Directors has accepted his appointment
with the Company with an initial term of three years commencing on
the respective dates of their appointment subject to termination in
certain circumstances as stipulated in the relevant letters of
appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Articles of Association and the
nomination policy of the Company. The Nomination Committee is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors based on the nomination policy and Board diversity
policy. Details of the Company’s nomination policy is set out in the
section headed “Nomination Committee” of this report.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board as an essential element to improving governance and
performance, and to creating a competitive advantage. In designing
the Board’s composition, board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments are made
on merit, in the context of the skills, experience, independence and
knowledge which the Board as a whole requires to be effective.

Directors’ Training and Continuing Professional
Development

Each of the Directors has received a formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to
ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of the Director’s
responsibilities under statute and common law, the GEM Listing
Rules, other legal and regulatory requirements and the Company’s
business and governance policies.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Directors’ Training and Continuing Professional
Development (Continued)

Directors are aware of Code Provision C.1.4 regarding continuing
professional development programme for directors. Every director is
required to keep abreast of his responsibilities as a Director and of
the conduct, business activities and development of the Company.

During the Relevant Year, all the Directors, namely Mr. LS Chua, Mr.
LC Chua, Mr. WH Chua, Mr. WJ Chua, Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie,
Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia and Mr. Tog Chek Soon have continued
their professional development by attending conferences and/or
internal training as regards corporate governance, laws, regulations
and the GEM Listing Rules, and/or reading materials in the above
areas and materials relevant to their duties, responsibilities and the
Group’s business in order to develop, refresh and update their
knowledge and skills.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by three Board Committees. Each Committee
has its defined scope of duties and terms of reference and the
Committee members are empowered to make decisions on matters
within their respective terms of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

We have established an Audit Committee on 21.3.2018 in compliance
with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of our
Audit Committee include (i) making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and removal of external auditors; (ii) reviewing
and supervising the financial statements and material advice in
respect of financial reporting; (iii) overseeing internal control
procedures and corporate governance of our Company; and (iv)
supervising internal control and risk management systems of our
Group. At the end of the Relevant Year, the Audit Committee consists
of three members comprising all independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie, Mr. Tog Chek Soon
and Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia (chairlady of Audit Committee).
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the Relevant Year. A

summary of the work of the Audit Committee during the Relevant

Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group;

reviewed the financial statements, quarterly, interim and annual
reports as well as significant financial reporting judgements
contained in them;

(i) reviewed and monitored the independent auditor’s
independence and objectivity, and the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards, and (ii)
discussed with the independent auditor before the audit
commenced, the nature and scope of the audit and the
reporting obligation;

reviewed the risk management and internal control systems of
the Company and its subsidiaries; and

provided recommendations to the Board for the proposal for
reappointment of the independent auditor of the Company and
approval of the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
independent auditor.

The Board has not taken any different view from that of the Audit

Committee regarding the re-appointment of the independent auditor.

The attendance of each member of the Audit Committee is set out in

the section headed “Attendance Records of Directors and Committee

Members” of this report.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

We have established a Remuneration Committee on 21.3.2018 in
compliance with Rule 5.34 of the GEM Listing Rules and with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary
duties of our Remuneration Committee include (i) reviewing and
making recommendations to our Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior management
of our Group; (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management; (iii) reviewing other remuneration-related matters,
including benefits-in-kind and other compensation payable to our
Directors and senior management; and (iv) reviewing performance
based remunerations and establishing a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policies. At the end of the
Relevant Year, the Remuneration Committee consists of three
members comprising an executive Director Mr. LS Chua and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ng Boon Cheow
Freddie (chairman of Remuneration Committee) and Mr. Tog Chek
Soon.

The Group’s remuneration policy is structured to attract and retain
high quality staff and to enable smooth operation. The Group offered
competitive remuneration packages which considered factors such
as corporate result, individual capability and performance, salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities
and employment conditions. The remuneration packages are subject
to review on a regular basis.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
eligible persons, details are set out under the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” of this annual report.

During the Relevant Year, the Remuneration Committee held a
meeting to review, among others, assess the performance and
remuneration package of the executive Directors and senior
management.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

The remuneration payable to the members of the senior management
depends on their employment contracts and includes basic salary
and performance bonus. Pursuant to paragraph E.1.5 of the CG
Code, the remuneration of the members of the senior management
(other than the Directors) by band for the Relevant Year is set out
below:

A8 B

Remuneration band

FHMEEE W)
EREREREBNHWIARELBEAL LB
BEEATEREBM - RECLEATIE
E158 REBFEREMERNS 2 BRER
B (EZRNFMBEIMT -

Number of individuals A &

Nil to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

% 1,000,000 % 7T,

The remuneration payable to the Directors depends on their
respective contractual terms under the service contracts or the
appointment letters (as the case may be), and as recommended by
the Remuneration Committee, taking into account the Group’s
operating results, market competitiveness, individual performance
and achievement. Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the
Relevant Year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is
set out in the section headed “Attendance Records of Directors and
Committee Members” of this report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

We have established a Nomination Committee on 21.3.2018 with
written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph B.3.1 of the
CG Code. The primary duties of our Nomination Committee are to (i)
review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board on
a regular basis; (i) identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members; (jii) assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; (iv) make recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors; and (v) make recommendations to our Board regarding the
candidates to fill vacancies on our Board. At the end of the Relevant
Year, the Nomination Committee consists of three members
comprising an executive Director Mr. LS Chua (chairman of
Nomination Committee) and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie and Mr. Tog Chek
Soon.

1,000,001 # 7T % 1,500,000 % 7T
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the Relevant Year, the Nomination Committee held a meeting
to review, among others, the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board in accordance with the Board diversity policy
and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of the Directors based on the nomination policy and
succession planning for Directors; and assessing the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and concluded that
members of the Board possessed the expertise and independence to
carry out the Board’s functions and responsibilities.

The Company adopted a nomination policy in compliance with the
CG Code, which establishes written guidelines to the Nomination
Committee to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships with reference to the
formulated criteria stated below:

° Reputation and integrity of the candidate;
° Accomplishment and experience;
° Commitment in terms of time and interest;

° Gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

° Potential contribution to board diversity;

° Independence with reference to the independence guidelines
set out in the GEM Listing Rules if the candidate is nominated
as an independent non-executive Director; and

° Number of directorships in other listed/public companies if the
candidate is nominated as an independent non-executive
Director.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

Below are the nomination procedure and process:

o The evaluation, recommendation, nomination, selection and
appointment or re-appointment of each proposed Director shall
be assessed and considered by the Nomination Committee and
the Board against the selection criteria and the Board Diversity
Policy.

° In the appointment of a proposed Director, the Nomination
Committee shall evaluate the candidate’s eligibility based on the
selection criteria. If multiple candidates are involved, the
Nomination Committee shall prioritize them according to the
Company’s needs and the candidates’ respective qualification.

° In the re-appointment of a Director at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company, the Nomination Committee
shall review the overall contributions of the Director, such as the
Director’s service, participation and performance in the Board,
and whether the Director still meets the selection criteria.

The Board will review the policy from time to time.

The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee is set
out in the section headed “Attendance Records of Directors and
Committee Members” of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Audit Committee is responsible for developing and putting in
place policies and practices to ensure compliance with the provisions
of the CG Code, for the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management, for the
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, etc.

During the Relevant Year, the Board has through the Audit Committee
reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance as well as the corporate governance report contained in
this annual report in the discharge of its corporate governance
functions, ensuring compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements. The Directors are also responsible for ensuring that (i)
appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;
(i) judgements and estimates made are prudent and reasonable; and
(iii) statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards have
been adopted and complied with.

At the end of the Relevant Year, the Directors confirm that, as
disclosed in note 2(a) to the consolidated financial statements, to the
best of their knowledge, information and belief, having made all
reasonable enquiries, they are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly,
the Directors have prepared the financial statements for the Relevant
Year on a going-concern basis. The financial statements for the
Relevant Year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and
audited by the independent auditor, Foo Kon Tan LLP (“FKT”). A
statement by the independent auditor about their reporting
responsibility is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s
Report” of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
The Company has an established risk framework under which it
identifies risks relevant to the operations and activities of the Group,
and assesses these risks in relation to their likelihood and potential
impacts. The Group’s internal control system includes a well-defined
management structure with limits of authority, which is designed to
achieve business objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorised
use or disposition, ensure proper maintenance of books and records
for the provision of reliable financial information for internal use or
publication, and ensure compliance with relevant legislations and
regulations. Such systems are designed to manage, rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and aims
to provide a reasonable, as opposed to an absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Directors have reviewed the need for an internal audit function
and are of the view that in light of the size, nature and geography of
the business of the Group, it would be cost effective to appoint a firm
of external independent professionals to perform internal audit
function for the Group.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(Continued)

Accordingly, the Board engaged a firm of external independent
professional to assess the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems which covered all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls as
well as risk management functions during the Relevant Year. The
resulting assessment report was reviewed by the Audit Committee
and the Board. No major issue was raised for improvement. The
Board is satisfied with the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the
GEM Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information
should be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision.
The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

° the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirement under the GEM Listing Rules as well as
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published
by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong in
June 2012;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and its website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information; and

° the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs, so
that only the executive Directors, the company secretary and
investor relations officers are authorised to communicate with
parties outside the Group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

FKT was re-appointed as the independent auditor of the Company
with effect from 8.2.2022 to hold office until the conclusion of the
next AGM.

For the Relevant Year, FKT received $40,000 (2021: $39,000) for
audit service and $2,350 (2021: $3,000) for non-audit service in
connection with tax advisory service.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Choy Tuck Leong is the company secretary as appointed
pursuant to Rule 5.14 of the GEM Listing Rules. The biographical
details of Mr. Choy is set out in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management Profile” of this annual report.

The company secretary supports the Board by ensuring timely
information flow to and within the Board, and monitoring adherence
to Board policies and procedures, including the training and
continuous professional development of Directors. The company
secretary also guides the Board on corporate governance matters
and facilitate the induction of new Directors. The company secretary
has attained not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
for the Relevant Year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company communicates with Shareholders and investors mainly
in the following ways:

(i) convening general meetings at least once a financial year
whereby Shareholders and investors could communicate
directly with the Board;

(i) publishing quarterly, interim and annual reports, announcements
and/or circulars as required under the GEM Listing Rules and/
or press releases to provide updated information on the Group;
and

(i)  updating the Company’s website with the latest information on
the Group.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

The Company acknowledges that general meeting is a good
communication channel with Shareholders. The Directors and the
members of the Board committees are encouraged to attend and
answer questions raised by Shareholders at general meetings.

The Company has adopted its shareholder communication policy to
enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner,
and to allow Shareholders and investors to strengthen communication
with the Company. The Company is committed to promoting and
maintaining effective communication with Shareholders and other
stakeholders. The Board is committed to ensuring that Shareholders
are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company. The Group will
continuously ensure the effectiveness and timeliness of information
disclosure to Shareholders and investors.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Right to Convene Extraordinary General Meeting
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any Shareholder(s) holding at
the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall have the right to submit a
written requisition requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board. The written requisition (i) must state the
purpose(s) of the extraordinary general meeting, and (ii) must be
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited at the registered office of
the Company for attention of the company secretary, and may
consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more requisitionist(s). Such requisitions will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the company secretary will ask
the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting by serving
sufficient notice to all shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition
has been verified as not in order, the requisitionist(s) will be advised of
this outcome and accordingly, the extraordinary general meeting will
not be convened as requested.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Right to Convene Extraordinary General Meeting
(Continued)

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of
the requisition proceed duly to convene the extraordinary general
meeting, the requisitionist(s) or any of them representing more than
one-half of the total voting rights of all of them may convene an
extraordinary general meeting, but any extraordinary general meeting
so convened shall not be held after expiration of two months from the
said date of deposit of the requisition. An extraordinary general
meeting convened by the requisitionist(s) shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in any extraordinary
general meeting to be convened by the Board.

Right to Put Forward Proposals at General Meeting
To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a
Shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal with
his/her detailed contact information at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the Board will be asked to include the proposal in the
agenda for the general meeting.

Right to Make Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns, in written form,
to the Board by addressing them to the company secretary at 31/F.,
148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong. Shareholders may also
make enquiries to the Board at the general meeting of the Company.
In addition, Shareholders can contact Boardroom Share Registrars
(HK) Limited, the branch share registrar of the Company in Hong
Kong, if they have any enquiries about their shareholdings and
entitlements to dividend.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Dividend Policy

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to the
Shareholders to be its goal. In deciding whether to propose a
dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall
take into account, inter alia:

° the general financial condition of the Group;
° the Group’s actual and future operations and liquidity position;

° the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

° the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

° any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group’s lenders;

° the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

° the Shareholders’ and the investors expectation and industry’s
norm;

o the general market conditions; and

° any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
Declaration of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Memorandum
and Articles of Association and any applicable laws, rules and

regulations (including but not limited to the GEM Listing Rules).

The Board will review the policy from time to time.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Relevant Year, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents. The Articles of Association are available on
the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining effective communication with
the investment industry is crucial to having a deeper understanding of
the Company’s business and its development among investors. To
achieve this goal and increase transparency, the Company will
continue to adopt proactive measures to foster better investor
relations and communications. As such, the purpose for the
Company to formulate investor relations policies is to let investors
have access to the information of the Group in a fair and timely
manner, so that they can make an informed decision.

We welcome investors to write to the Company or send their enquiries
to the Company’s email of investor_relation@sunlightpaper.com.sg to
share their opinions with the Board. The Company’s website also
discloses the latest business information of the Group to investors
and the public.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
consolidated financial statements for FY2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group is principally engaged in the supply of tissue products to
corporate customers in Singapore. Further discussion and analysis of
these activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies
Ordinance, including a performance analysis using financial key
performance indicators and an indication of likely future developments
in the Group’s business, can be found in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. Details
of the principal risks and uncertainties of the Group are set out in
Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements. These form part of
this report.

During the Relevant Year, the Company was not aware of any non-
compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that had a
significant impact on it. The Board has not identified any material
events affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the
Relevant Year.

The Group is committed to nurturing its staff to care about and
protect the environment. It conducts its business in a manner that
balances the environment and economic needs. The Group complies
with all relevant environment regulations. It works with its partners
including customers and suppliers in a concerted effort to operate in
an environmentally responsible manner by making concerted efforts
to be energy-efficient and to practise “Reduce, Reuse and Recycle”.

Among others, the Group has taken the following initiatives:
° recycles printed paper and production tissue paper; and

° installation of low-energy LED lighting.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continued)

Further details of the Group’s environmental policies and performance
will be disclosed in the environmental, social and governance report
of the Company for the Relevant Year, which will be published in the
manner required by the GEM Listing Rules.

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development and therefore we
obtain and understand the views of our stakeholders regularly. This
communication provides valuable feedback for our business and
assists us to understand stakeholders’ needs and assess the best
way to leverage our resources and expertise to contribute to future
business and community development. Across the supply chain, we
have taken steps throughout the Relevant Year to ensure that we
operate responsibly and in the interests of our customers, workforce,
suppliers and other stakeholders.

Our employees are valuable assets and our success is underpinned
by our people. We provide attractive remuneration packages, and a
fair and harmonious working environment to safeguard the legitimate
rights and interests of our employees. Our human resource policies
outline our compensation, working hours, rest periods and other
benefits and welfare, which comply with laws and regulations. We
attract qualified applicants by offering competitive remuneration
packages based on prevailing market conditions. None of the
Group’s employees is represented by any collective bargaining
agreement or labour union. The Group has not experienced any
significant problem with its employees or disruption to its operations
due to labour dispute, nor has the Group experienced any difficulties
in the recruitment and retention of experienced staff. We endeavour
to create a workplace based on respect for human rights and where
our employees are free to practise their beliefs and preferences.

During the Relevant Year, the Group maintained good relationship
with its customers and generally maintained a high retention rate with
the existing customers to keep abreast of market development and
potential business opportunities.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
(Continued)

The Group has maintained stable and long-established business
relationships with its major suppliers. We do not foresee any difficulty
in procurement nor experienced any production disruption.

We endeavour to support the communities in which we operate by
understanding their needs. We focus on the hygiene aspects of
charitable organisations in our community.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during
the Relevant Year is as follows:
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Sales Purchases
HE BE
The largest customer BAEP 14.4% -
Five largest customers in aggregate AARBEF&E 38.7% -
The largest supplier BAEER - 36.5%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate RAREER ST - 96.7%

At no time during the Relevant Year have the Directors, their close
associates or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors owns more than 5% of the number of issued Shares) had
any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Relevant Year.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movement in Shares during the Relevant Year are set
out in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company did not redeem
any of its listed securities nor did the Company or any of its
subsidiaries purchase, or sell any of such securities during the
Relevant Year.
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EERE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At the end of the Relevant Year, the reserves of the Company
available for distribution, as calculated under the Companies Act of
the Cayman Islands, was $9.0 million (2021: $8.7 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Relevant Year are set out in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors and changes to their information, if any, during the
Relevant Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Chua Liang Sie (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Chua Liang Chui

Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao)

Mr. Chua Wenjie (alias Cai Wenijie)

Independent non-executive Directors
Ng Boon Cheow, Freddie

Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia

Tog Chek Soon

In accordance with article 108(a) of the Articles, Mr. LS Chua, Mr. LC
Chua and Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie shall retire at the forthcoming
AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing on the
Listing Date and/or the appointment date, respectively and will
continue thereafter until terminated in accordance with the terms of
the service agreement. Independent non-executive Directors are
appointed for a term of three years from their respective dates of
appointment and will continue thereafter unless terminated by either
party giving at least three months’ notice in writing.

None of the Directors who is proposed for re-election has a service
contract with the Company not terminable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this annual report.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the Relevant Year, so far as the Directors are aware, none of
the Directors and Controlling Shareholders, neither themselves nor
their respective close associates, had held any position or had
interests in any businesses or companies that were materially
competing or might materially compete with the business of the
Group, or gave rise to any concern regarding conflict of interest.

ACHIEVEMENT OF USE OF PROCEEDS AND
BUSINESS OBJECTIVES

Details on the use of proceeds and the comparison of business
objective with actual business progress are discussed in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at the end of the Relevant Year, interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules,
were as follows:

() Long positions in the Shares:

EERFTETHRAEREAQTRE
AABEZEHNRD  HERGRE
RENERR KR

REBFEER  ARREZREZTHABRA
AR S E AR EE (F & RS R BAEE
EXVE) B - BEARD REEES - HEAE
SEENIREESRIE KO ES2EMBEFES
s fft - AR #R GEM £ 48 BI 25 5.46 £ 5.67 1§ 40
BANE RERZ OSSR B T -

() MRIRMHELTFE :

Number of
underlying Percentage of
Number of Sharesheld  Total number the total
Shares held under equity of Shares  issued Shares
Name Capacity Nature of interests (Note 1) derivatives interested (%)
MRALTE HERTRHG
FERABE  IARSES BEERN aEEM
#E 5% REiME (M&E1) RHOBE RAEEH (%)
Mr. Chua Liang Sie (Note 2) A concert party to an agreement Corporate interest 576,000,000 (L) - 576,000,000 72
BRELE (HH2) to buy shares described in ARER
$.317(1)(a) of the SFO
B5 LAEHEIE317(1)(@)
FrtBERpEN—BTAL
Mr. Chua Liang Chui (Note 2) A concert party to an agreement Corporate interest 576,000,000 (L) - 576,000,000 72

BRALE(WH2) to buy shares described in ARER
$.317(1)(a) of the SFO
EHRBERBIZE317(1)(0) B
FLBRBHEN—BTIAL
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE

SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (Continued)

(i)  Long position in the shares of YJH Group
Limited — an associated corporation of the
Company

BEENFETHRAERAQTRE
MEBEZENKRSG  HBERORE
EENERERWHRE @

(i) HYJIH Group Limited (A2 &) 47
BOAE) RO e e

Number of  Approximate percentage

Name Capacity/Nature of interests shares held of the total issued shares
HEBRITROBLEN

HE B4 EmtE FERGOEE BMAOB D
Mr. Chua Liang Sie Beneficial owner/Personal interest 480,000 82.76%
EREBLLE Ena A EAAER
Mr. Chua Liang Chui Beneficial owner/Personal interest 100,000 17.24%
BRPEE Ena A AN ERE

Notes: Fi5E

1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part 1. FH L EZATRZERDH TR (EER

XV of the SFO) in such Shares.

2. YJH Group Limited is owned as to approximately 82.76% by Mr. Chua
Liang Sie and 17.24% by Mr. Chua Liang Chui. Mr. Chua Liang Sie and
Mr. Chua Liang Chui were signatories of a concert parties agreement
dated 11.10.2017. As such, they were deemed as controlling YJH
Group Limited as a group and were deemed to have interests in the
Shares held by YJH Group Limited, respectively. For details, see
“History, Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — Concert parties
arrangement” in the Prospectus.

Save as disclosed above, as at the end of the Relevant Year, none of
the Directors nor chief executive of the Company had registered an
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which had been recorded
in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

EHMEGDIEXVED)

2. YJH Group Limited (A2 R B L A REER B E D
B 482.76% K 17.24% « BRBHERER
PEEB—HBEA2017F10 A 11 BN —B4T
BATHEMEZEA - Bt - HESRIER AR
[B 4% # YJH Group Limited & 9 Bl 4 13 A& K YJIH
Group Limited AT M0 R B s - 5152 H
BERERIES SHRAREE — —BIT8HA
T2

BEXEEEIN REBEFER BEARFE
ERETBTHRABRRAR RS EA TR AR
(EERBH LG ROIEXVEL) BBt - 1868
ety RERZEPHEE DRER AR RRIERE S K
HIE 150155 362 1P B B FC M AR 18 GEM LT
AN 5.46 £ 5.67 (FAME AR B R a2
AR MEITER °
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme, the details of
which are set out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
No share option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption. Therefore, no options were exercised or cancelled
or lapsed during the Relevant Year and there were no outstanding
options under the Share Option Scheme as at the end of the Relevant
Year. The total number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not in aggregate
exceed 80,000,000 Shares, being 10% of the total number of Shares
in issue as at the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
Save for the Share Option Scheme, at no time from the Listing Date
to the date of this report were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any Directors or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of
age, or were any such rights exercised by them, or was the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries and fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at the end of the Relevant Year, other than the Directors and chief
executive of the Company, the following persons/entities have an
interest or a short position in the Shares or the underlying Shares as
recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO:

BERETE
RARIBERA—BRERESE - AFBHNGES
IS RFR L 22 B ERAEEARE ST B AR - 4
BB - Fit - RBEFEN - BEERE
BATE SRR SR - MR BT EAR - B
FTEITE T LA M RAT R M REARAE - ARIRFEARMERT
BRI LM E RN IR G BEA T TR ER
80,000,000 f% * 15 A 4F 5 B BRI E 31T AR 15 4R By
10% °

EEBARDHER
BERES BN ARAR EHEHEEEAR

SEREARERER TENEERFEEEN
FEBHI18EA T FRAIEBAAR R RN S ERE
AR RWETREITEEIMZFE
Mo HARE  EAERR QR A AN B A E R
[l 5 M8 A B MR SR 2 P BUE E R AT A
EREAMEAB BN Z SRR

FERRRRORAEBERGNVERS
R/EHKR

REBEER - BA
5h - AT AL/ ERRRO ARG F B
PN RIEES RS P E B AR AATHE
BB RMOMAEAE -

REIBEEREIETHRAE

Long position in the Shares: REH EF & -
Number of Number of underlying Total number Percentage of
Shares held Shares held under of Shares  the total issued
Name Capacity Nature of interests (Note 1) equity derivatives interested Shares (%)
URAETE ERTRS
FEROEE IAREEE BERERH AEAN
i 5% ERME (H=E1) RHEE REEH (%)
YJH Group Limited (Note 2) ~ Beneficial owner Personal interest 576,000,000 (1) - 576,000,000 72

YJH Group Limited (Hfi£2) ~ EHHBA BV
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (Continued)

Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes a person’s “long position” (as defined under Part
XV of the SFO) in such Shares.

2. YJH Group Limited is owned as to approximately 82.76% by Mr. Chua
Liang Sie and 17.24% by Mr. Chua Liang Chui. Mr. Chua Liang Sie and
Mr. Chua Liang Chui were signatories of a concert parties agreement
dated 11.10.2017. As such, they were deemed as controlling YJH
Group Limited as a group and were deemed to have interests in the
Shares held by YJH Group Limited, respectively. For details, see
“History, Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — Concert parties
arrangement” in the Prospectus.

Save as disclosed above, as at the end of the Relevant Year and so
far as known to the Directors, no person/entity, other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company whose interests are set
out in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and/or
Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company or any Associated Corporation” above, had notified the
Company of an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares which had been required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant Section 336 of the
SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

At the date of this report, based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the
GEM Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty.

The Company has in place appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken
against Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities. The relevant provisions of the Articles and the insurance
coverage are currently in force and were in force throughout the
Relevant Year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than a contract of service with any Director or any
person under the full employment of the Company, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the Relevant Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements (i) will or may result in the Company
issuing Shares; or (ii) require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares
were entered into by the Group during the Relevant Year or existed
as at the end of the Relevant Year.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts that are
significant in relation to the businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries to which either the Company or any of its subsidiaries
were a party and in which a Director or his/her connected entity had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the Relevant Year or at any time during the Relevant Year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN CONTRACTS

There was no contract of significance (whether for the provision of
services to the Group or not) in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which any Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Relevant Year or at any time during the Relevant Year.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee is set up by the Board to formulate a
remuneration policy for approval by the Board, which will take into
consideration factors such as corporate result, individual capability
and performance, salaries paid by comparable companies,
employment conditions, time commitment and responsibilities, and
individual performance of the Directors, senior management and the
general staff of the Company.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as an incentive
to eligible participants.

During the Relevant Year, the Group contributed fully to the Central
Provident Fund (“CPF”) of Singapore and did not forfeit any CPF
contributions.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, and
there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of the
Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities. If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in or
exercising of any rights in relation to the Shares, they are advised to

consult their professional advisers.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group at the
end of the Relevant Year are set out in Note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
are set out in the section headed “Summary of Financial Information”
in this annual report.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group contributes to a defined contribution plan. The details are
set out under the sub-section headed “Employee benefits” in note
2(d) to the consolidated financial statements.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the Relevant Year, there was no connected transaction or
continuing connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules, which are required to comply with any of
the reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements.

During the Relevant Year, there were no related party transactions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report, the Company had complied with the CG Code during the
Relevant Year. Details of the principal corporate governance practices
of our Group are set out in the section headed “Corporate
Governance Report” of this annual report.

The compliance officer of the Company is Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias
Cai Wenhao) whose biographical details are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile” of this annual
report. The company secretary is Mr. Choy Tuck Leong who is also
the Company’s chief financial officer and his biographical details are
set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management
Profile” of this annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by Foo Kon Tan LLP, an
independent firm of Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants
in Singapore, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains forward looking statements with respect to the
financial conditions, results of operations and business of the Group.
These forward looking statements represent the Company’s
expectations or beliefs concerning future events and involve known
and unknown risks and uncertainty that could cause actual results,
performance or events to differ materially from those expressed or
implied in such statements.

On behalf of the Board
Sunlight (1977) Holdings Limited
Chua Liang Sie

Executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Singapore, 16.12.2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

To the members of Sunlight (1977) Holdings Limited
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sunlight
(1977) Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 30.9.2022, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 30.9.2022, and of the consolidated financial
performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash
flows of the Group for the year ended on that date in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (“IESBA”) International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International
Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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B & HE R E

Key Audit Matters

BRI E X TR

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional RIEZENZEHE  BRERKSEAEENS
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated ~ ZAHIEIHG A MBEHERTREENEIE - B
financial statements of the current period. These matters were HBERGEAMGHRABERGIERE RERIE
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial % FE > MASHHEEEEHERER -
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

BREELEE

Our responses and work performed

EEWERRTETHIE

Revaluation of building on leasehold land
et FEEYER

The Group carries its building on leasehold land at fair
value, with the change in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income. The Group engages a firm of
independent professional valuers to assess the fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The fair value
of the building on leasehold land is determined by the
independent professional valuers using recognised
valuation techniques. The technique applied is the
market approach, by making reference to comparable
sales transactions as available in the relevant market.
Significant judgement and estimates are required in the
valuation technique and inputs used to determine the
fair value of the building on leasehold land.

BEEEMEE L EEEMEATEIE  ERXTFESE
PREMEPAWRRER - BEEEZRBUREXGHER
RRAAEERERROATE - BELI FEEYH
RFETHBIEEGEENERCEREERNEE -
R ATISE  TH2ERET SN AN A L&
HWERS - HHEETHELH FEEY R TEMNGBER
MR ABIEER - AIEHEXRHAE KRG -
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Our procedures in relation to the revaluation of building on
leasehold land included:

° Assessing the methodologies and appropriateness of
the key assumptions used by the management’s expert;

° Understanding and reviewing the assumptions in the
input data from the management’s expert through
discussions, comparisons to industry peers and
independent external data sources, and agree to
supporting documentation; and

° Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the management’s expert.
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B R HE R E

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key audit matter

BREELEE

FAREZEE @)

Our responses and work performed

EENEERFTETHITHE

Revaluation of building on leasehold land (Continued)

HE+# FEEWEML(E)

Fair value encompasses estimating the expected selling
prices of the underlying assets by identifying the
comparable assets and determining the current market
selling prices of these assets. Input inaccuracies or
inappropriate bases used to determine the fair value,
including the comparable assets used in the fair value
measurements, could result in material misstatement in
the consolidated financial statements.

AFERRBEZRNTELREERBEEZSEEN
Al 35 & FX@?W@%FM%%ET FRREE"
BEABB T EEIERTEE (R
BHEREE)

EERTF
BERAR A EFENT
CEWRA Y RK N IRE R R -

The valuation technique and inputs to the revaluation of
building on leasehold land are disclosed in Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EfHEE L EEEYAAMNGERN B ARIERE
RERA FTEMRMIEES ©

We involved an auditor’s expert to assist us in the above. We
evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
auditor’s expert, and the adequacy of the work performed by
the experts.

We also considered the adequacy of disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements, describing the
methodologies used, degree of subjectivity and key
assumptions used in the estimates.
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B EED R &

Other Information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation
of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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B EED R &

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B EED R &

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chin Sin Beng.

Foo Kon Tan LLP

A principal member firm of HLB International
Public Accountants and

Chartered Accountants

Singapore

16.12.2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma BB RRE
at 30.9.2022
202249 A30H

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
Note $’000 $000
P 7E Fx Tt
ASSETS BE
Non-Current Assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MR E 3 14,230 13,952
Right-of-use asset EREEE 4 580 654
Software licences BT 5 57 10
14,867 14,616
Current Assets REEE
Inventories =8 6 1,014 693
Trade and other receivables B 5 R HAb FE W IR 7 2,410 1,669
Prepayments Bt RA 78 292
Cash and bank balances B RIBITHERR 8 807 3,744
4,309 6,398
Total assets BEMATE 19,176 21,014
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Capital and Reserves MR AR
Share capital RE AN 9 1,338 1,338
Reserves e 10 15,037 14,633
Total equity attributable to owners A RQATEE AEIGREEALE
of the Company 16,375 15,971
Non-Current Liabilities FkREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFRIEEE 11 1,052 1,147
Borrowings RN 12 - 12
Lease liability HEAE 13 200 223
1,252 1,382
Current Liabilities =R
Borrowings RN 12 9 1,646
Lease liability HEAE 13 26 26
Trade and other payables B 5 REAFERKIA 14 1,514 1,989
1,549 3,661
Total liabilities EE8E 2,801 5,043
Total equity and liabilities ERRAGEHAE 19,176 21,014

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in

conjunction with these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

REBERRAEtMZERER

for financial year ended 30.9.2022
#HE202249 A30 B IEHMBFE

2022 2021
2022 2021 £
Note $°000 $'000
P &E Fr T
Revenue g 15 12,020 11,766
Cost of sales SHE AR (9,238) (8,883)
Gross profit EF 2,782 2,883
Other income E A 16 111 214
Selling and distribution expenses $HE R HR X (1,458) (1,424)
Administrative expenses TR (1,395) (1,512)
Finance costs BRE A A 17 (12) (14)
Profit before taxation BRBE AR R 18 28 147
Taxation g 20 232 99
Profit for the year FRER 260 246
Other comprehensive income MR EHMEmERE -
after tax:
Items that will not be reclassified HEBTSEHIER
subsequently to profit or loss BEMIEE
Revaluation of building on leasehold SEHAE T FEEY
land 174 45
Related tax AR A (30) 8)
Other comprehensive income for FREMZEKE (BREZ)
the year, net of tax 144 37
Total comprehensive income AAREEAEEFRAZE
for the year attributable to WS4 EE
owners of the Company 404 283
Earnings per share EATEEAELER
attributable to owners of the B R (Frhnsg AL)
Company (Singapore cent)
— Basic and diluted — AEANEE 21 0.03 0.03

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in

conjunction with these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERREER

for financial year ended 30.9.2022

B £ 20229 A30 B IEFMBFHE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARTRA ARG

Share Share Merger Revaluation  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve earnings equity
k& ROEE  AHRE  ERRE  REEN  BRAER
$:000 $:000 $:000 $:000 $:000 $000
S Fr S S r Fr
Balance at 1.10.2020 R2020510 510 2 &8k 1,338 6,221 580 5,295 2,254 15,688
Profit for the year FREH - - - - 246 246
Other comprehensive income FREMZERE
for the year
— Revaluation of building on - EfHRETI LEEY
leasehold land - - - 37 - 37
Total comprehensive income FREANGAE
for the year - - - 37 246 283
Balance at 30.9.2021 18202159 A 30 B 2 &8 1,338 6,221 580 5,332 2,500 15,971
Balance at 1.10.2021 2021 F10 A1 B2 &8 1,338 6,221 580 5,332 2,500 15,971
Profit for the year FREF - - - - 260 260
Other comprehensive income FREEEKE
for the year
— Revaluation of building on - gt FBEY
leasehold land - - - 144 - 144
Total comprehensive income ERZAKGAE
for the year - - - 144 260 404
Balance at 30.9.2022 R202259 A30H 2 &tk 1,338 6,221 580 5,476 2,760 16,375

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in

conjunction with these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTREBR

for financial year ended 30.9.2022
HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBFE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
Note $°000 $°000
MizE Fr F
Cash Flows from Operating Activities RERKEIBHNESHRE
Profit before taxation B 5 A i 28 147
Adjustments for: BATSBEL A
Amortisation of software licences R RR ST 5 20 10
Depreciation of property, ¥ - BB REREITE
plant and equipment 3 398 344
Depreciation of right-of-use asset FREEENE 4 74 74
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BER&EKE
plant and equipment 16 (12) (12)
Interest expense FEREZ 17 12 14
Operating profit before working EEESHBALSEER
capital changes 520 577
Changes in inventories FE# (321) 5,859
Changes in trade and other receivables 8 5 & H b Jig U 5018 % 8 (621) 822
Change in prepayments T BB B 214 (209)
Changes in borrowings & (1,543) (5,457)
Changes in trade and other payables ZB5NEMBENKBEES 36 (84)
Cash (used in)/generated from KRR (FTA)/ FERe
operations (1,715) 1,508
Income taxes paid ENEEH (13) (165)
Net cash (used in)/generated from meEK (R),/ FBREFHE
operating activities (1,728) 1,343
Cash Flows from Investing Activities RERETEHHNREHE
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  BEMREBEHIE
plant and equipment 35 84
Purchase of property, HEWE  BENEE
plant and equipment (1,036) (1,491)
Purchase of software licence BB ETE 5 (67) -
Net cash used in investing activities R &EEBARS TR (1,068) (1,407)

BERM FY L AR AR 2 S B TS TR Y — &f {0 > /A%
FE R — ORI -

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in
conjunction with these financial statements.

2022 R/ BY¥ (1977) #RBERAT 61



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

MEBRESRER®

for financial year ended 30.9.2022
HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBEFE

2022 2021
2022 F 20214
Note $’000 $'000
BitsE Fr Fi
Cash Flows from Financing Activities XEREZENHEESHRE
Interest paid BEAFE (12) (14)
Repayment of borrowings BIEER (106) (102)
Repayment of lease liability BERERE (23) (24)
Net cash used in BMETEHMARESFE
financing activities (141) (140)
Net decrease in cash and R e RIRITHEBR A FRE
bank balances (2,937) (204)
Cash and bank balances at FPR e RIRTTEE
beginning of year 3,744 3,948
Cash and bank balances at end of year ~ F K& RIR{TEH 8 807 3,744

The annexed notes form an integral part of and should be read in

conjunction with these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
MEBRERERW

for financial year ended 30.9.2022

B Z2022F9 A30 B I EFHE

Reconciliation of Movements of Liabilities to Cash Flows Arising from Financing Activities

EEZDURETHRELENRERENHIR

Bank loan Lease liability Total
RITER HEEE @gt
$'000 $'000 $000
T T T
(Note/ffizE 12) (Note/ FfizE13)
Balance at 1.10.2020 742020510 B 1 B 2 &84 217 273 490
Changes from financing cash flows REWMERLSRENEE
— Repayment of borrowings - BEER (102) - (102)
— Repayment of lease liability - BEHEaR - (24) (24)
— Interest paid — BHFE () © (14)
Total changes from financing cash flows REREREREN S HAE (107) (33) (140)
Other changes Hit @5
— Interest expense - FlBHX 5 9 14
Total liability-related other changes BELAE - REMEBHER 5 9 14
Balance at 30.9.2021 72021469 530 Az &8 115 249 364
Balance at 1.10.2021 742021510 81 B 2 &8 115 249 364
Changes from financing cash flows REMERSRENEE
— Repayment of borrowings - BEER (106) - (106)
— Repayment of lease liability - EEHERE - (23) (23)
— Interest paid — BHFE (3) ©) (12)
Total changes from financing cash flows RERERERENEHASR (109) (32) (141)
Other changes Hit @5
— Interest expense — FBBx 3 9 12
Total liability-related other changes EEAE - HEMBBER 3 9 12
Balance at 30.9.2022 R20224% 9 A 30 A 284 9 226 235
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2022
B £ 20229 A30 B IEFMBFHE

1

General Information

The consolidated financial statements of Sunlight (1977)
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the financial year ended 30.9.2022 were authorised
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on the
date of the Report of the Directors.

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 21.9.2017. The shares
of the Company were listed on GEM operated by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 16.4.2018.

The registered address of the Company is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands. The head office and principal place of business
in Singapore is located at 11 Tuas South Street 5, Singapore
637590. The principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong is located at 31/F., 148 Electric Road, North Point,
Hong Kong.

The Group is principally engaged in the supply of tissue
products to corporate customers in Singapore. The subsidiary
directly and wholly-owned by the Company is SPP Investments
Limited (“SPP Investments”), which is an investment holding
company. The subsidiary indirectly and wholly-owned by the
Company (through SPP Investments) is Sunlight Paper
Products Pte. Ltd. (“Sunlight Paper”), which is principally
engaged in the supply of tissue products to corporate
customers in Singapore. Details of the subsidiaries are
disclosed in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

The immediate and ultimate holding company is YJH Group
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2022

B Z2022F9 A30 B I EFHE

2(a) Basis of Preparation 2(a) 25I|FE%E

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with IFRS including related Interpretations
promulgated by the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies
below.

The presentation of the consolidated financial statements
includes applicable disclosures required by the GEM Listing
Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Singapore dollar (“SGD”) which is the Company’s functional
currency. All financial information is presented in SGD and
rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

Significant accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRS requires the use of judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
financial year. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge of current events and actions,
actual results may differ from those estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and
in any future periods affected.

The significant accounting estimates and assumptions used
and areas involving a high degree of judgement are described
below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2022

B £ 20229 A30 B IEFMBFHE

2(a) Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2(a) 2HNEE @)

Significant judgements in applying accounting policies
Going concern

The Group incurred net operating cash outflows of $1,728,000
(2021: net operating cash inflows of $1,343,000) for the
financial year ended 30.9.2022. Notwithstanding this, the Group
generated net profit of $260,000 (2021: $246,000) for the
financial year ended 30.9.2022. In addition, as at 30.9.2022,
the Group had net current assets and net assets of $2,760,000
(2021: $2,737,000) and $16,375,000 (2021: $15,971,000),
respectively.

Having regard to measures to tighten controls over expenses
and to better manage the Group’s working capital, the directors
believe that the Group is able to adequately manage its cash
flows and continue to operate as a going concern.

In assessing whether the Group can meet its debt obligations
for at least 12 months from the end of the reporting period,
management has prepared cash flow forecast for the financial
year ending 30.9.2023. Based on the forecast and having
regard to the above, the directors believe that the Group has
sufficient working capital and financial resources to enable the
Group to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due and
continue as a going concern for at least 12 months from the
end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the directors are of the
view that the going concern assumption is appropriate for the
presentation of these consolidated financial statements.

Income taxes

Significant judgement is involved in determining group-wide
provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and
computations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recognised, such differences will affect the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made. The carrying amount of the Group’s
deferred tax liabilities at the end of the reporting period and the
Group’s income taxes for the year are disclosed in Note 11 and
Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

66  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2022

FE P& 5 IBUR B A B A H

B E
REBEFEZE 2022 F 9 A 30 HOWHHKF
JEEXT 1,728,000 THFELIRE M
(2021 4F : JF & & I & A 1,343,000
TL) o BEWL  REAEEE 2022 £ 9 A
30 HIEM B EHFHE & 260,000 T
(2021 4 : 246,000 JT) ° LN - BZE 2022
F9H30HE  KENFRBEENFEE
2 B & 2,760,000 JT (2021 4 : 2,737,000
JL ) & 16,375,000 JT(2021:15,971,000
TT) °

ZRFMBIEH AT MEFIOEEARE
LEETNER BEFHEEAKEREAT

EEHESREVEERSERE

DI

pa

ATEAEEETEITARSHAARRED
12 EAANESEEY BERERNTEHSE
2028 £ 9 A 30 AL BEEMBLRE
TER o IRIBTERINE BE| LaER - B
REACEEAERRENEEES RUBE
B R AEEENREEEEEY
FiEES > 12 AARSHAR - Bl - E
ERARBELEBRRBARENZZRE

FITS R

ik
EEAKEZHAEHBEER S REXRH
B - BETRZRAERBBEEHBES
BUHSKRHACBESTRBEEN - N
BB AT RIS B K & 2 HIARER
BHRENEE - L FENRERB
BREYIHANTEIR - HHFEEZER
ZRMETE CHEA  SREMRFRMEL
BIRH B - AERBEREV AR ENR K
SHREEERAEEBFAMGEHRD BB
BRER A M ISR M L 11 RFHFE20 ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2022

B Z2022F9 A30 B I EFHE

2(a) Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2(a) 25| FEE @)

Significant assumptions used and accounting estimates
in applying accounting policies

Revaluation of building on leasehold land

The Group carries its building on leasehold land at fair value,
with the change in fair value being recognised in other
comprehensive income. The Group has engaged a firm of
independent professional valuation experts to assess the fair
value of its building on leasehold land, which is determined
using recognised valuation techniques. The technique applied is
the market approach. The carrying amount of the building on
leasehold land at fair value at the end of the reporting period is
disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
The valuation techniques and inputs used to determine the fair
value of the building on leasehold land are provided in Note 3 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
asset

The costs of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
asset are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated
economic useful lives of the assets. Management estimates the
useful lives of plant and equipment and right-of-use asset to be
within 5 to 20 years. The useful life of the building on leasehold
land is based on the committed lease term of the leasehold
land. The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use asset at the end of the reporting
period is disclosed in Note 3 and Note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively. The Group performs annual
reviews on whether the assumptions made on useful lives
continue to be valid. As changes in the expected level of usage,
maintenance programmes and technological developments
could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values
of these assets, future depreciation charges could be revised. If
depreciation on the Group’s property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use asset increases/decreases by 10% from
management’s estimates, the Group’s profit for the year will
decrease/increase by $40,000 (2021: $34,000) and $7,000
(2021: $7,000), respectively.
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B £ 20229 A30 B IEFMBFHE

2(a) Basis of Preparation (Continued) 2(a) EHNEE @)

Significant assumptions used and accounting estimates
in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) for trade receivables. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is
initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates.
The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. At the end of each
reporting period, historical default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The
Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future. The information relating
to ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in Note
27.1. If the loss rates increase by 1% from management’s
estimates, the Group’s allowance for impairment of trade
receivables will increase by $22,000 (2021: $16,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2022

B Z2022F9 A30 B I EFHE

2(b) Interpretations and amendments to published 2(b) 722022 F A R H) ¥ 2 AR 2 A

standards effective in 2022 R RERTAR
On 1.10.2021, the Group adopted the following IFRS that are MR2021F10 A1 H - ZREEHEM TYIEZ
mandatory for application from that date. Changes to the AiesahlERME R BREEL - K&
Group’s accounting policies have been made as required, in EeiRE RIS AERBRIT GRS 2R
accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective BB IR R PR &8 -
IFRS.
Reference Description 5l g
Amendments to IFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — BIRREI TSRS BRI E o5« FIREAEME —
IAS 39, IFRS 7, Phase 2 REFERIE05 . BoBR
IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 B AR B 7 s o 22 B

75 EEMBEmE
AR 4 5% M BRI 75
WMEEE 165K BT A

Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related PR B 7S 4 25 2 A 202146 A30R1%
Rent Concessions ERACHEN #COVID-19
beyond 30.6.2021 HEHEEER

The adoption of these new and amended IFRS did not result in RNZE ] M ] BB B 7% #h & 2E 1)

substantial changes to the Group’s accounting policies nor any WHEERAEBE ST BORHBEERNES

significant impact on these financial statements. MEHZEMGREREETMEALE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for financial year ended 30.9.2022
HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBEFE

2(c) New standards and interpretations not yet 2(c) MIARMHFTER| N 2T
adopted

The following are the new or amended IFRS and IFRIC issued AT ARRERETRERAERAMBFERR
BRANEY B AR 37 AT SIS AT BIRR BT IS S 5
A REERVBEREREZEGRE A
i 785 [ R 4R B I 55 B 7 R AR I 1 R AR
MZEFET GBI I B 5 2B &%

that are not yet effective but may be early adopted for the
current financial year. However, the Group has not early
adopted the new or amended IFRS and IFRIC in preparing
these financial statements:

B EHRERBEZEgRE

Effective date
(Annual periods
beginning on
Reference Description or after)
EHAH
(R BBk A
82Z i M EERR)
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1.1.2023
BUFR B s s 5 2 BI85 17 5% RBEH 20231 A1H
Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1.1.2022
B B 75 3 o ZE B BB B R IE AT AR Rt ER 2022%F 1 A1H
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as 1.1.2024
Current or Non-current
Bl & S HERIE A R A MBHFERBDEENR 202441 A1H
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — 1.1.2022
Proceeds before Intended Use
Bl & s ERIE 16 BT A ME - BERRE — BERRANTEE 2022461 A1H
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling 1.1.2022
a Contract
BIFR et 4RI % 37 SRIEFT A BEEH — BIIAKBEKAR 2022461 A1H
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between Yet to be
an Investor and its Associate or determined
Joint Venture
BIBR B 5 A2 RN 1058 R BIBR & 5T 24 Al REEFEEBENARAELEZHN $3E
F28RERI AR BEHESIRA
Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1.1.2023
BIBR M SR E 7 BT A RBEH 20231 A1H
Amendments to IFRS 4 Extension of the Temporary Exemption 1.1.20283
from Applying IFRS 9
PR B s i o 22 B 88 4 SRAE AT AR BAEAERIBRERUEIRNTHHRR 20231 A1H
Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1.1.2023
Statement 2
BUFR & SR RIS 1 57 e BURR B RS HR 5 22 R REGHR 20231 A1H

BEBRE2RIEITAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
for financial year ended 30.9.2022
HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBFE

2(c) New standards and interpretations not yet 2(c) MARMMFTER N RE @)
adopted (Continued)
Effective date
(Annual periods
beginning on
Reference Description or after)
EHBEH
(RUT BHEISk A
2Z it RGN FE )
Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 1.1.2023
BN e 5T R E 8 RIEFT R BIHEES 2023 1A1H
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and 1.1.2023
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
BB ERIE 1257 BRT R HE-RHEANEERRBERBNELTHRE 2023F 1418
Amendments to IFRS 17 Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 1.1.2023
— Comparative Information
BRI S LR E 7 HIEET A BRI BN B mEERE7 R 2023 1A1H
BB B RS 9% — LEER
Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1.1.2024
BRI S R E 16 BT A SROERNEERE 20241 A1H
Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1.1.2024
REFTERIFE 1 RIEFT A BRZANERDEE 202441 R 18
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020
I B B 75 R 75 HE RN 2018 R 22 2020 F B HR B SR BUE
— Amendments to IAS 41 Taxation in Fair Value Measurements 1.1.2022
— BR e S 41 FEFTAR ATV EFEFHHIE 2022F 1418
— Amendments to IFRS 1 Subsidiary as a First-time Adopter 1.1.2022
— BRI B EERE 1 RERT R TEREREKMNE BB R 202241 R 18
— Amendments to IFRS 9 Fees in the ‘10 per cent’ Test for 1.1.2022
Derecognition of Financial Liabilities
— BRI EEREORERT R BRIEReHAEN10%AATEENER 202241 R 18
— Amendments to lllustrative Examples Lease Incentives 1.1.2022
accompanying IFRS 16
— BB TSRS R 16 KA BRI R BIEFT AR HERE 202241 R 18
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2022

B £ 20229 A30 B IEFMBFHE

2(c) MAFRMIFTER MR @)

2(c) New standards and interpretations not yet

adopted (Continued)

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the above
IFRS in future periods will have a material impact on the financial
statements of the Group and the Company in the period of their
initial adoption.

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current is based on the rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that
classification is unaffected by expectations about whether an
entity will exercise the right to defer settlement of a liability,
explain that rights are in existence if covenants are complied
with at the end of the reporting period, and introduce a
definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers to
the transfer of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services
to the counterparty.

The amendments are applied retrospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1.1.2024, with early application permitted.

There is no material impact expected to the Group’s financial
statements on initial application.

Amendment to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments introduce a further exception from the initial
recognition exemption. Under the amendments, a reporting
entity does not apply the initial recognition exemption for
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

The amendments are effective for reporting periods beginning
on or after 1.1.2023. Early application is permitted. The
amendments shall be applied to transactions that occur on or
after the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented.
In addition, at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability shall be
recognised for all deductible and taxable temporary differences
associated with leases and decommissioning obligations.

It is currently impracticable to disclose any further information
on the known or reasonably estimable impact to the Group’s
financial statements in the period of initial application.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
for financial year ended 30.9.2022
HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries at the end of
the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company.
Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions
and events in similar circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised
gains and losses resulting from intragroup transactions and
dividends are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition,
being the date on which the Group obtains control and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. Thus, the Group controls an investee if, and only if,
the Group has all of the following:

(i) power over the investee;

(i)  exposure, or rights or variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

(i)  the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its
returns

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

2(d)
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B £ 20229 A30 B IEFMBFHE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation,
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their depreciable
amount over their estimated useful lives or remaining lease
period, as follows:

Building on leasehold land Remaining lease period

to0 15.8.2060
Plant and machinery 5 to 20 years
Motor vehicles 51to 10 years
Furnishings and improvements 10 years

No depreciation is provided for construction-in-progress.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as
part of the cost of property, plant and equipment if the
obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred
as a consequence of acquiring or using the asset.

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and
equipment that have been recognised is added to the carrying
amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic
benefits in excess of the standard of performance of the asset
before the expenditure was made will flow to the Group and the
cost can be reliably measured. Other subsequent expenditure
is recognised as an expense during the period in which it is
incurred.

For acquisitions and disposals during the period, depreciation is
recognised in profit or loss from the month that the property,
plant and equipment are installed and are available for use, and
to the month of disposal, respectively. Fully depreciated
property, plant and equipment are retained in the accounts until
they are no longer in use.

On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the
difference between the disposal proceeds and its carrying
amount is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
for financial year ended 30.9.2022
HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period as a change in estimates.

Building on leasehold land is measured at fair value at the date
of the revaluation less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment. Any revaluation
surplus is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under revaluation reserve, except to the
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset
previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the
increase is recognised in profit or loss. A revaluation deficit is
recognised in profit or loss, where it exceeds an existing surplus
on the same asset carried in the revaluation reserve.

At valuation date, the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a
manner that is consistent with the revaluation of the carrying
amount of the asset. The accumulated depreciation is adjusted
to equal the difference between the gross carrying amount and
the carrying amount of the asset after taking into account
accumulated impairment losses.

Software licences
Software licences are capitalised and amortised on a straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of 5 years.

Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.
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2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)
Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the
Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments. Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), and fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

The classification of financial assets, at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
financial asset not at FVTPL, transaction costs. Trade
receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring promised goods or services to a customer,
excluding amounts collected on behalf of third party if the trade
receivables do not contain a significant financing component at
initial recognition. Refer to the accounting policy on “Revenue
from contracts with customers”.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows that
are “solely payments of principal and interest” (“SPPI”) on the
principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as
the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
for financial year ended 30.9.2022
HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are
classified in four categories:

—  Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

—  Financial assets at FVOCI with recycling of cumulative
gains and losses (debt instruments)

—  Financial assets designated at FVOCI with no recycling of
cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (equity
instruments)

—  Financial assets at FVTPL

The Group does not hold any financial assets at FVOCI or
FVTPL.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group’s business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the
contractual cash terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent SPPI are
measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the assets are derecognised or impaired, and through
amortisation process.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost comprise trade
and other receivables (excluding advances to suppliers and tax
recoverable) and cash and bank balances.

A receivable represents the Group’s right to an amount of
consideration that is unconditional (i.e. only the passage of time
is required before payment of the consideration is due).
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e M B EWRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2022
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2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 20) EXGETHEME &)

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the asset expire. On derecognition of a
financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received is recognised
in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) associated with its debt instrument assets
carried at amortised cost. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (12-month ECLs). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (lifetime ECLs).

For trade receivables, the Group measures the loss allowance
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. Therefore, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at the end of each reporting
period. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other receivables, loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs. The 12-month ECLs are estimated by
reference to the track record of the counterparties and their
business and financial conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2022

B Z2022F9 A30 B I EFHE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)
(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued) MEEE (B
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) M EERE (&)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are credit-
impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’” when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable data:

° significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

o a breach of contract such as a default or being more than
90 days past due;

o the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on
terms that the Group would not consider otherwise;

o it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised
cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of these
assets.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of
its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus, for an
item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly

attributable to its acquisition or issue.

The Group’s financial liabilities comprise borrowings, lease
liability and trade and other payables (excluding net output tax).

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at
FVTPL, such as interest-bearing borrowings, are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation
process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate.

Borrowings

Borrowings which are due to be settled more than 12 months
after the reporting period are included in current borrowings in
the consolidated statement of financial position if the loan facility
agreements include an overriding repayment on demand clause
which gives the lender the right to demand repayment at any
time at its sole discretion and irrespective of whether a default
event has occurred. These borrowings are classified as current
because, at the end of the reporting period, the Group does not
have an unconditional right to defer its settlement for at least
twelve months after that date. Other borrowings due to be
settled more than 12 months after the reporting period are
included in non-current borrowings in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2022

B Z2022F9 A30 B I EFHE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)

(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out basis, and
includes all costs in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. In the case of manufactured products,
cost includes all direct expenditure and production overheads
based on the normal level of activity.

Allowance is made for obsolete, slow-moving and defective
inventories in arriving at the net realisable value. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Share capital and share premium

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of new ordinary shares that
have been issued. Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issuance of new ordinary shares are deducted against share
premium.
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2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the Directors are not accounted for
in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of retained earnings,
until they have been approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the
shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the articles of association of the Company grant the
Directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised directly as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Leases
The Group as a lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all
lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-
term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of twelve
months or less) and leases of low-value assets. For these
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease (including extension option) unless another systematic
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date,
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate
cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate specific to the lessee. The incremental borrowing
rate is defined as the rate of interest that the lessee would have
to pay to borrow over a similar term and with a similar security
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2022
B Z2022F9 A30 B I EFHE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liability (Continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease

liability comprise:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options, and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate
the lease.

The lease liabilities are presented as a separate line item in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost,

by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease

liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the

carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)
(Continued)
Leases (Continued) HE &)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEEEAREA )
Lease liability (Continued) HEBE (&)

WHBRATER  NEBEEHFEHER
B (W ARREE MR EE R (HERE
BERAECREZT)(ELRERE)

The Group remeasures the lease liability (with a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use asset or to profit or loss if
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has already been
reduced to nil) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a significant event
or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;

the lease payments change due to changes in an index or
rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments
change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in
which case a revised discount rate is used); or

a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for financial year ended 30.9.2022
HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBFE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset comprises the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before
the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and
any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle
and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is
located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is
recognised and measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the
costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the
related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to
produce inventories.

Depreciation on right-of-use asset is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their depreciable amounts over
the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying
asset, as follows:

Prepaid differential premium
Leasehold land

11 years
11 years

If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost
of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to
exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The
depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is presented as a separate line item in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use
asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment
loss.

Income taxes

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised
at the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the tax
authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)

Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements
except when the deferred income tax arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and affects neither accounting or taxable
profit or loss at the time of the transaction.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets and
they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authorities
on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, provided
they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised
simultaneously.

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be
utilised.

Deferred income tax is measured:

(i) at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates
and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period; and

(i)  based on the tax consequence that will follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amounts
of its assets and liabilities.
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for financial year ended 30.9.2022

B Z2022F9 A30 B I EFHE

2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)

(Continued)

Income taxes (Continued)

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income
or expense in profit or loss, except to the extent that the tax
arises from a business combination or a transaction which is
recognised either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.

Valued-added taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the
amount of value-added tax (“VAT”), except where the VAT
incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable
from the taxation authorities, in which case the VAT is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable, and except that trade
receivables and trade payables are recorded with the amount of
VAT included. The net amount of VAT recoverable from or
payable to the taxation authorities are included as part of other
receivables or other payables in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plan

The Group contributes to the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”), a
defined contribution plan regulated and managed by the
Government of Singapore, which applies to the employees.
Contribution is mandatory and forfeiture of contribution by
employer is prohibited. A defined contribution plan is a post-
employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed
contribution into a separate entity and will have no legal or
constructive obligation to pay further amounts. The
contributions to CPF are charged to profit or loss in the period
to which the contributions relate.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. Accrual is made for the unconsumed
leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.
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2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Related parties
A related party is defined as follows:

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group or the Company if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Company;
(i) has significant influence over the Company; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Company or of a parent of the
Company.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group or the Company if any of
the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Company are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i)  both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Company or an
entity related to the Company. If the Company is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Company.

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).
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2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)

(Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the reporting entity or to the parent of the
reporting entity.

Key management personnel

Key management personnel are those persons having the
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the Group. Directors and certain management
executive are considered key management personnel.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other
than inventories, are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the
individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the assets belong will be identified.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are
tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-
generating unit level.

Individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
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2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal
and value in use, based on an internal discounted cash flow
evaluation. Impairment loss recognised for a cash-generating
unit is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash-generating
unit. All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that
an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist.

Any impairment loss is charged to profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount or when
there is an indication that the impairment loss recognised for
the asset no longer exists or decreases.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the
asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined if no impairment loss had
been recognised.

A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from sale of goods and services in the ordinary course
of business is recognised when the Group satisfies a
performance obligation (“PO”) by transferring control of a
promised good or service to the customer. The transaction
price is allocated to each PO in the contract on the basis of the
relative stand-alone selling prices of the promised goods or
services. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount of
the transaction price allocated to the satisfied PO.
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2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The transaction price is the amount of consideration in the
contract to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or services. When
consideration is variable, the estimated amount is included in
the transaction price to the extent that it is highly probable that
a significant reversal of the cumulative revenue will not occur
when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration
is resolved.

Revenue may be recognised at a point in time or over time
following the timing of satisfaction of the PO.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised by the Group at
a point in time when the goods are delivered to the customer,
all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied, and the customer
obtains control of the goods.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss,
using the effective interest method.

Government grants

Government grants received are recognised over the periods
necessary to match them with the related costs which they are
intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government
grants are shown separately as other income or deducted from
the related costs.

Government grants are recognised as a receivable at their fair
value where there is reasonable assurance that the grants will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
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2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 2d) EXSEHBEME @)

(Continued)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in SGD, which is also the functional currency of the Company.

Conversion of foreign currencies

Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency
(“foreign currency”) are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Currency translation differences from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates
at the end of the reporting period are recognised in profit or
loss.

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis
as either other income or other expenses depending on
whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net
loss position.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions.
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2(d) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 200) EXGETHEME &)
(Continued)
Operating segments gD
An operating segment is a component of the Group that HEESHERNEERRU S REER (B

engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that
relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other
components. All operating segments’ operating results are
reviewed regularly by the Group’s Chief Executive Officer
(“CEQ”), who is the chief operating decision maker, to make
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and
to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial
information is available. Additional disclosures on each of these
segments are shown in Note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements, including the factors used to identify the reportable
segments and the measurement basis of segment information.

Segment results that are reported to the CEO include items
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be
allocated on a reasonable basis.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during
the period to acquire property, plant and equipment.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or
loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit
or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding, for the effects
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share
options granted to employees, if any.
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3  Property, Plant and Equipment 3 WE - WENEE
Building on

leasehold Plant and Motor  Furnishings &  Construction-

land machinery vehicles  improvements in-progress
(at valuation) (at cost) (at cost) (at cost) (at cost) Total

BELHE

BEY BER#ES RE FARER EEIR
() (e (REE) (REE) (e %) &t
$:000 $000 $000 $'000 $000 $000
r T i T i i

Cost or valuation FAZfh{E

At1.10.2020 R2020E1071H 7217 209 1,702 - 2,892 12,080
Addttions e 402 - 575 - 2,576 3,553
Disposals e - - (348) - - (348)
Transfers E47 2,927 - - - (2,927) -
Revaluation El 48 - - - - 48
At 30.9.2021 R2021F9A30H 10,654 209 1,929 - 2,541 15,333
Additions AE - - - 2 505 525
Disposals e - - (81) - - (81)
Transfers &y - 506 - 246 (752) -
Revaluation Bfh 189 - - - - 189
At 30.9.2022 R202595300 10,843 715 1,848 266 2,204 15,966

Accumulated depreciation Z3tiTE

At1.10.2020 R2020F10A1H 477 7 826 - - 1,310
Depreciation (Note 18) E(Hi18) 174 21 149 - - 344
Disposals it - - (276) - - (276)
Revaluation B 3 - - - - 3
At 30.9.2021 R2021F9A30H 654 28 699 - - 1,381

Depreciation (Note 18) HE(frE18) 174 44 155 25 - 398
Disposals e - - (58) - - (58)
Revaluation Eff 15 - - - - 15
At 30.9.2022 H202259A30H 843 72 796 25 - 1,736
Carrying amount RAE

At 30.9.2022 #2022E9A30H 10,000 643 1,052 24 2,294 14,230
At 30.9.2021 H2021E9A30H 10,000 181 1,230 - 2,541 13,952
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3

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)
Construction-in-progress relates mainly to machines procured
by the Group for the purpose of production of tissue products.
As at 30.9.2022, the machines are awaiting installation and
calibration works and are not available for use.

During the financial year ended 30.9.2022, cash payments of
$1,036,000 were made for the purchase of property, plant and
equipment. The cash payments include payments of $109,000
in relation to retention sums for renovation works which were
withheld in prior years and $402,000 which were accrued and
unpaid in the prior year.

During the financial year ended 30.9.2021, additions amounted
to $3,558,000, of which $1,660,000 was paid in the prior year,
and $402,000 were accrued and unpaid as at 30.9.2021. Cash
payments of $1,491,000 were made for the purchase of
property, plant and equipment.

As at 30.9.2022, the building on leasehold land with carrying
amount of $10,000,000 (2021: $10,000,000) was mortgaged
to secure bank loan with carrying amount of $9,000 (2021:
$115,000) (Note 12) and other banking facilities granted to the
Group.

Building on leasehold land

The building on leasehold land is an industrial property located
at 11 Tuas South Street 5, Singapore 637590. The property
comprises a factory built on one parcel of leasehold land. Sale
or transfer of the building on leasehold land held for own use is
subject to consent from the Government leasehold estate.

The building is a three-storey factory with a gross floor area of
4,189.1 sgq.m. The first two storeys with a gross floor area of
2,998.4 sgq.m. was completed in 2003. Construction of a third
storey with a gross floor area of 1,195.7 sq.m. commenced in
2019 and was completed in 2022. The leasehold land has a
total site area of 2,999.9 sg.m. It is held under the Government
leasehold estate and leased for an initial term of 30 years
commencing from 16.8.2000 and expiring on 15.8.2030, with
an option to renew for an additional term of 30 years
commencing on 16.8.2030 and expiring on 15.8.2060 (Note 4).

M - BB MR )
ERIRBIESRASEREERERE
MRS M ES - 7R 2022F 9 430 H - #
RIECEFRENRELE  8AFER -

REE2022F9A30HIEHBFE - A
BETWE BMEERKEIZINT
1,036,000t MR £ W& KRB E
109,000 7T £ 7] £ 5F 1 88 9 B e T2 1R B8
©HEBEAMFRIE - ARAT—FREFHERZ
402,000 7T °

REE2021F9AS0BIEFEFE » AE
43,653,000 7T - H 71,660,000 7T [ Al —
FE XN B LK E B402,0007T R
20219 A30H - W% - MERZHERS
NE 41,491,000 7T °

7202249 A30H - BRME {E 10,000,000 7T
(20214 : 10,000,000 7T) (W E -0 72
EYE THEAF - LA EUER E 59,0007
(20214 : 115,0007t ) #]R1TE R (FFzE12)
EEFAEENHMIBITRE -

ZHEE L FEEY
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3

Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)
Revaluation of building on leasehold land

Management has engaged a firm of independent professional
valuers to perform valuation of the building on leasehold land,
having regard to the valuers’ recognised and relevant
professional qualifications and recent experience in the location
and category of the property being valued.

In determining the fair value of the building on leasehold land,
the valuers used the market approach. Based on the valuation
report as at 30.9.2022, the fair value was determined to be
$10,000,000 (2021: $10,000,000). As at 30.9.2022, the
revaluation surplus of $144,000 (2021: $37,000) (after
deducting the related tax of $30,000 (2021: $8,000) (Note 11))
was recognised in other comprehensive income.

The carrying amount of the building on leasehold land that
would have been recognised had it been carried under the cost
model was $3,994,000 (2021: $4,077,000).
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Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 3 WX - BFEKERE@®

3

Revaluation of building on leasehold land (Continued)
Valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs

EfEEI W EEEY (B)
EERTG REAX T AR A 245

The fair value measurement of the building on leasehold land REHSBEINENHEE T EEEMHR
stated at revalued amount has been categorised as a Level 3 FEFEENMAGBERMTNE ASES
fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used. HREIRAFE - TRIRAEEIRAR
The following table shows the valuation technique used in FEERMANMGAERN  UEAANE
measuring the Level 3 fair value hierarchy, as well as the RPN ER R ) A\ BRI -

significant unobservable inputs used:

Inter-relationship
between key

unobservable
Significant inputs and
Valuation unobservable fair value

Description technique inputs measurement Range
FETTERBA
HEHRAVETE

ik R E R EXTAHERAEE <ZBHEDER EE

Building on leasehold Market approach by Adjustments applied to A significant increase in -~ 2022: Discount of

land — industrial
property in Singapore

HE L bRy —
Rk T ¥ %

making reference to
comparable sale
transactions as
available in the
Singapore market.

% - BB K

NS B ELLE
HERS °

market comparables, market selling prices 5% t0 23%
taking into consideration  would result in a of comparables
the remaining lease significantly higher fair

tenure, timing of such value measurement,  2021: Discount of
transactions and and vice versa. 12% to 32%
location of comparable of comparables
properties.

HAIE L BIA R FTRA mEEEARE LS 2022F - RAELR
HE BEEHT BYNTENE JAB 5% & 23%
HEFH BHERHH BEEN R2TA -

R kA BB % 2021 F - RAELR
HIEE - HEHTE12%Z32%
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for financial year ended 30.9.2022
HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBEFE

4 Right-of-use asset

4 (EHEEE

Prepaid
differential Leasehold
premium land Total
HAAHIEE HE L At
$'000 $'000 $°000
T+ T T
Cost 2%
At 1.10.2020, 30.9.2021 A2020F10H18 -
and 30.9.2022 202159830 A K
20229 H30H 506 296 802
Accumulated depreciation 23t
At 1.10.2020 R2020F10A1H 46 28 74
Depreciation (Note 18) e (fsE18) 47 27 74
At 30.9.2021 20219 A30H 93 55 148
Depreciation (Note 18) e (H3E18) 47 27 74
At 30.9.2022 7A2022F9 A30H 140 82 222
Carrying amount EREE
At 30.9.2022 72022598 30H 366 214 580
At 30.9.2021 7R20214F9A30H 413 241 654
Prepaid differential premium relates to the payment for the lifting ERMosHESEARKRELEHEHEL

of plot ratio restriction on the leasehold land title. P e BR il 1 SZ A A9 FRIE o
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HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBFE

5 Software licences

5 EFIRTE

2022 2021
2022 20214
$°000 $'000
Fx Tt
Cost AR
At 1 October ®10A1H 31 31
Additions nE 67 -
At 30 September RO AS30H 98 31
Accumulated amortisation E-5g: £
At 1 October N10B1H 21 11
Amortisation (Note 18) i (MiFE18) 20 10
At 30 September RO A30H 41 21
Carrying amount IREE
At 1 October ®10A1H 10 20
At 30 September MROHA30H 57 10

BHETENBE ARG RS EME
R R AT °

The amortisation of software licences is included in
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

SRR X 2R BRBEOEREBR]
BMPIFER -

Software licenses mainly relate to an online self-order and
payment portal procured by the Group.

2022 FiR/ B (1977) #RAERAE 99



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RR
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HE2022F9F30H IFFHFE

6 Inventories 6 &
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
$°000 $000
Tr Tt
Goods-in-transit — at cost EEEM — BEAK 112 112
Finished goods — at cost Bk mm — R 902 581
1,014 693
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an BRARZ I AHEXANTFESE D
expense and included in cost of sales is as follows: T -
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
$°000 $000
Fr Tt
Cost of inventories recognised in cost RIEERAERNFERA
of sales (Note 18) (M5 18) 8,529 7,999
During the financial year ended 30.9.2020, Sunlight Paper was B 220209 H30H IE B B FE
appointed by the Singapore government to purchase additional Sunlight Paper & 37 I BN Z £ LA B B &8
toilet rolls. During the financial year ended 30.9.2021, the Group SN ES R o RELE 202149 A30H 1E
sold all the additional toilet rolls with a Singapore government MIRFE - AEBHE2MBBIMTESA -
grant of $5,457,000 (Note 12). FEFT NS BR AT B 5,457,000 7 (MFRE12) »
7 Trade and Other Receivables 7 BZKRHAMEKFKIE
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
$°000 $000
F Fir
Trade receivables from third parties REE=ZFTHE SHEMKFRIA 2,199 1,573
Other receivables H fth i W B 10 37
Deposits wmE 4 18
Financial assets at amortised cost RESHRC AN DIBR B S B E 2,213 1,628
Advances to suppliers S F LR R B R 57 21
Tax recoverable FiiE U 140 20
2,410 1,669
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for financial year ended 30.9.2022

B Z2022F9 A30 B I EFHE

7 Trade and Other Receivables (Continued) 7 B5RHAMEWGRIE (&)
The Group generally extends credit period of 0 to 30 days KEBE-—MRAREFPEREEHOEI0H
(2021: 0 to 30 days) to customers, depending on the length of (2021 F : 0ZE30R) ' IIRFEF E’]%ﬂ‘%
F%f?iﬁﬁ NRES - ERRIBE
o REEERIGFE S UG Alﬁiiﬁ%&
L%ﬁr&ﬁ(ﬂ’\ﬂaﬁ% °

business relationship, payment history, background and
financial strength of the customers. The Group actively reviews
the trade receivable balances and follows up on outstanding
debts with the customers.

Trade receivables arise from customers in Singapore. B O RBGRIEZRBF SRR ©
Based on invoice dates, ageing analysis of the Group’s trade BIEZRZAE AEBZE 5 EKRFIENRE
receivables is as follows: AT
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 F
$’000 $000
Fr Fir
0 to 30 days 0% 30H 1,218 910
31 to 60 days 31E60H 793 511
61 to 90 days 61290H 181 138
Over 90 days im0 H 7 14
2,199 1,573

Based on due dates, ageing analysis of trade receivables that

RIFZEIR - WARRERNE 5 E R RIER

are not impaired is as follows: BRE T -
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
$°000 $000
Fr F
Not past due NI 4% 360 HA 1,224 921
Past due O to 30 days #HAI0 230 H 787 502
Past due 31 to 60 days BHEI31E£60H 181 136
Past due 61 to 90 days #HIG1 =90 H 7 14
2,199 1,673
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B £ 20229 A30 B IEFMBFHE

7 Trade and Other Receivables (Continued) 7 B5RHEAMEREIE @)
Based on historical default rates, the Group believes that no ERELENE  AEEHEEHERES
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade FEWGRIBVE L R ERE - REALEER
receivables, as they mainly arise from customers that have a REFERAEAEEESRIFEERH
good credit record with the Group. HEF -
Trade and other receivables are denominated in SGD. B 5 K H b FEUWCGRIE TH AT AN T AT E o
8 Cash and Bank Balances 8 WReNRITHES
2022 2021
2022 £ 2021 4
$°000 $'000
Fr Fit
Cash in bank RITH S 807 3,742
Cash on hand FHEES - 2
807 3,744
Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following e RIRITAESRTIA TN EEHE -
currencies:
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
$’000 $'000
Fr Fi
SGD N oo 777 3,739
HKD BT 30 5
807 3,744
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9

10

Share Capital 9 R
2022 2021 2022 2021
2022 F 2021 F 2022 20214
Number of ordinary shares $°000 $000
ZEREE Fr T
Issued and fully paid ERTRAR
At 1 October and 30 September 1081 H X9 A30H 800,000,000 800,000,000 1,338 1,338
The ordinary shares of the Company have par value of HK$0.01 RARR LB 2 EME0.01 8T »
each.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at shareholders’ meetings. All shares rank equally with

AR EE NSRRI S ENRE
FHE-RARBEAGE T - AL
AZHBEENS  FERNHTERS

regard to the Company’s residual assets. HOAT o
Reserves 10 @&
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
$°000 $000
Fr Tt
Share premium B wE 6,221 6,221
Merger reserve G 580 580
Revaluation reserve EXREL 5,476 5,332
Retained earnings IR & F 2,760 2,500
15,037 14,633
Share premium B2 RE
Share premium represents the excess of proceeds from the B aERETHEBRAMERIERLEE

issuance of new ordinary shares over the nominal value of the
shares issued, net of share issue expenses. ¥ o

TR0 B RO BURRDR A7) 32 1T R SO 3R

2022 F 3R/ B (1977) EBRAERLF

103



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B EWRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2022
B £ 20229 A30 B IEFMBFHE

10 Reserves (Continued) 10 &
Merger reserve Aot E
The merger reserve represents the excess of the share capital & Pt £ #8548 Sunlight Paper (7N £ & &) i —
of Sunlight Paper, which is the sole operating subsidiary of the LIBNEB AR AL EBERERNE
Group, over the consideration given in the Reorganisation. The B o AOHEB T AR DI T AR ©
merger reserve is not available for distribution to Shareholders.
Revaluation reserve BEhRE
Revaluation reserve relates to the revaluation of building on EHERHEIEBEEREANNEE L
leasehold land under the revaluation model (Note 3). The By EG (ME3) - EFFHETTARD
revaluation reserve is not available for distribution to the KT ARRFIRR
Company’s shareholders.
11 Deferred Tax Liabilities 11 BERIBEAE
Movements in deferred tax liabilities during the financial year are REBTBFEANEER B EEHH0
as follows: e
Recognised Recognised
Recognised in in other Recognised in in other
profit orloss  comprehensive profit or loss  comprehensive
At 1.10.2020 (Note 20) income  At30.9.2021 (Note 20) income  At30.9.2022
R2020 £ REEER  REfB2E R2021 £ REERR REf2E R2022E
10818 (Fz20) a3 9A30A (&20) 6351 9A30A
$000 $/000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
n i i o T T T
Property, plant and equipment 1% + B Rk
— depreciation - & 145 40) - 105 ) - 3
— revaluation - &f 1,098 - 8 1,066 - 30 1,096
Unutised tax losses ABRTEEE - 24 - 24 2 - -
Capital alowances BREE - - - - (M) - (1)
1,203 64) 8 1,147 (125) 30 1,052
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12 Borrowings 12 &

2022 2021
2022 2021 4F
$°000 $'000
Fx T

Non-current IEFRED
Bank loan RITER - 12

Current FE

Bank loan IRITER 9 103
Singapore government loan N BRATE R - 1,543
9 1,646
9 1,658

MM BAERTDARBEEINELES
MEESF ZEXR/RE  BEM ¥H
HEXHESANAESTREE -

The Singapore government loan is for the purpose of
purchasing additional toilet rolls in the prior years. The loan is
interest-free, unsecured, and to be repaid from the proceeds of
the sale or disposal of the toilet rolls.

During the financial year ended 30.9.2021, Sunlight Paper
received a government grant of $5,457,000 (Note 6) which the
Group applied to offset against the Singapore government loan
of $7,000,000. The Singapore government loan was fully repaid
on 17.2.2022.

Repayment schedule
The repayment schedule of the Group’s borrowings is as
follows:

W E 22021983008 I B B F E
Sunlight Paper & EX I /i # B 5,457,000 7T
(Mse) AEBEEREBKEKEH
7,000,000 JTET I BT E 5K o #7003 U
BRIE2022F 2 17 A2 EEE -

BREEE
REBERNERFEHRDOD

2022 2021

2022 F 20214

$°000 $'000

Fx T

Within 1 year 1R 9 1,646
Between 1 and 2 years 1E22%F - 12
9 1,658

2022 F 3R/ B (1977) EBRAERLF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2022
HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBEFE

12 Borrowings (Continued) 12
Terms and conditions
The terms and conditions of borrowings at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

EENC )

R B ARG
R ¥R E HREE IR BRI -

Nominal Year of Face Carrying
Currency interest rate maturity value amount
B% LY k) HfE REE
$:000 $:000
Tr Tr
2022 2022
Bank loan RITER SGD 2022
FmE 3.0% 20228 9 9
2021 2021
Bank loan RITER SGD 2022
BT 3.0% 2022 15 115
Singapore government loan  $7 AT &5 SGD 2023
BT - 2023 1,643 1,543

The bank loan is secured by the Group’s building on leasehold
land (Note 3) and a corporate guarantee from the Company. In
addition, the bank loan imposes certain financial covenants, as
follows:

° market value of the building on leasehold land to be not
less than $6,300,000; and

° the amount under the bank loan owing to the bank shall

not at any time exceed 70% of the market value of the
building on leasehold land.
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HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBFE

12 Borrowings (Continued)
Carrying amount and fair value
The carrying amount and fair value of long-term borrowing at
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

12

M)

IREERAFE
R|RERRNRPERKREERLR D FER
T

Carrying

amount Fair value

BREE H{E

$'000 $000

Tt Tt
2022 2022 F

Bank loan IRITER 9 9
2021 2021 F

Bank loan IRITER 115 114

The fair value is determined from the discounted cash flow ANFEDRBHBRERESN  HAE
analysis, using the implicit discount rate based upon the RESTEHNREBHRUSHERFED
borrowing rate which the directors expect would be available at REMIBEEENT
the end of the reporting period, as follows:
2022 2021
2022 F 2021
% %
Bank loan IRITER 3.5 3.5

The fair value hierarchy of the above long-term borrowings is
Level 2. The fair values are estimated using an observable
market interest rate used for similar borrowings with similar risk.

FREREFROATFEERRFE2HR A
ABESERAUBEENTSMNEMER
&A= AR BE R B LUER -
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HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBEFE

13 Lease Liability HEaE

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 £
$°000 $'000
T Tt

Undiscounted lease payments due: RT3 EE R AR R REEN K
— Year 1 — F1F 33 33
— Year 2 — FoF 33 33
— Year 3 — $E3F 33 33
— Year 4 — F4F 32 32
— Year 5 — E54F 32 32
— Year 6 and onwards — B6FENEE 100 132
263 295
Less: Unearned interest cost AR BREUR B AR (37) (46)
226 249

Represented by: 2 .

— Non-current — JEmE 200 223
— Current — RE 26 26
226 249

Rental expenses not capitalised in lease liability but recognised
within administrative expenses in profit or loss are set out

HERXARENMEABEEAE  ERTX
BER AT TP RERR

below:
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
$°000 $°000
Fx Tt
Short-term leases mEAHE 22 33

The Group’s short-term lease commitments are not
substantially dissimilar to those giving rise to the Group’s short-
term lease expense for the year.

Total cash outflows for leases amounted to $54,000 (2021:
$66,000), comprising lease liabilities of $32,000 (2021: $33,000)
and short-term leases of $22,000 (2021: $33,000) for the
financial year ended 30.9.2022.

Further information about the financial risk management is
disclosed in Note 27.
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B Z2022F9 A30 B I EFHE

14 Trade and Other Payables 14 BH5KkEMERFIA
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
$°000 $000
Fr Tt
Trade payables to third parties ENE=HE S ERNIE 795 676
Accrued directors’ fees ErESHRS 100 100
Accrued employee benefits EsHEE &R 357 388
Accrued expenses et 122 625
Other payables HAb T 3RIE 89 112
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RESHRC AR DIBR I I B | 1,463 1,901
Net output tax SHIERFEE 51 88
1,514 1,989
The average credit period taken to settle trade payables is HEEEFENRIBHNTHEERNRI0KX
approximately 30 days (2021: 30 days). (20214 : 30:K) °
Based on invoice dates, ageing analysis of the Group'’s trade BEBEZHZAN  ANEEESENFIENER
payables is as follow: BT
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
$’000 $000
Fx Tt
0 to 30 days 0E 30K 472 428
31 to 60 days 31 260X 299 149
61 to 90 days 61 £ 90K 24 37
795 614
Trade and other payables are denominated in SGD. B 5 R H A T RIB T AR N TR E o
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B £ 20229 A30 B IEFMBFHE

15 Revenue 15 Wz
Significant categories of revenue, excluding applicable goods BiEAME R RGN - BEAKEELER
and services tax, are detailed as follows: ESIR NN

2022 2021
2022 £ 2021 F
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Revenue from contracts with customers B F & 4UizE
— Sale of goods — HEER 12,020 11,766
Timing of transfer of goods e mERE
— At a point in time — RE—HE2 12,020 11,766
16 Other Income 16 HAUA
2022 2021
2022 £ 2021 F
$°000 $000
Fr T
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE  BEMEREKES
plant and equipment 12 12
Government grants B 63 183
Sundry income FETEUTA 26 10
Trademark income ELEIPN 10 9
111 214
17 Finance Costs 17 BB
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 £
$°000 $'000
Fx Tt
Interest expenses on: ATHBHE
— bank loan — RITER 3 5
— lease liability —HERE 9 9
12 14
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B Z2022F9 A30 B I EFHE

18 Profit Before Taxation 18 BRFAT&F
2022 2021
2022 2021 F
Note $°000 $000
FisE Tr T
Profit before taxation has B HIRR LA T B IR HOBR T AT
been arrived at after charging: il
Amortisation of software licences B BT R B 5 20 10
Auditor’s remuneration Gk 40 39
Cost of inventories recognised in REEER AR FERA
cost of sales 6 8,529 7,999
Depreciation of property, WE  BERRETE
plant and equipment 3 398 344
Depreciation of right-of-use asset FREEENE 4 74 74
Staff costs (including Directors’ BIRA (BIEEEHH
remuneration (Note 19)) (BHEE19))
— salaries and other related costs — HoREMBERA 1,941 2,083
— contributions to defined — FEH G AR
contribution plans 126 128
2,067 2,211
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19 Directors’ Remuneration and Five Highest Paid 19 EEHFBMEAESZSHF AT

Individuals

19.1 Directors’ remuneration 19.1 E=HH
Salaries,
allowances
and benefits  Discretionary Defined
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
¢ 28
ER  RENEN BBRA REMRK )
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
i i i i i
2022 202F
Executive Directors: HIEE:
Mr. Chua Liang Sie ERBLAE %5 234 57 10 326
Mr. Chua Liang Chui ERIRA 25 192 29 10 256
Mr. Chua Wenhao BELE % 122 7 13 167
Mr. Chua Wenjie B A 25 114 7 13 159
Independent non-executive Directors: BV #4778 % -
Mr. Tog Chek Soon ML 10 - - - 10
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie BXBREE 10 - - - 10
Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Sylvia BEILT 10 - - - 10
130 662 100 46 938
2021 2021%
Executive Directors: HITEE:
Mr. Chua Liang Sie BRERE 25 234 36 9 304
Ms. Chua Joo Gek ERINT
(resigned on 9.9.2021) (R2021E9R9RET) 23 119 19 7 168
Mr. Chua Liang Chui BRARE 25 192 28 12 257
Mr. Chua Wenhao EEEE % 120 7 14 166
Mr. Chua Wenije BUALE
(appointed on 9.9.2021) (P21 E9R9RER() 2 17 7 14 140
Independent non-executive Directors: BV #4772 % -
Mr. Tog Chek Soon {EIEEE
(appointed on 27.11.2020) (R2020% 11 f 27 BEZfT) 10 - - - 10
Mr. Ng Boon Cheow Freddie EXBRE 10 - - - 10
Ms. Lye Kheng Joke Syvia PEIAT 10 - - - 10
130 782 97 5 1,065
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19 Directors’ Remuneration and Five Highest Paid

Individuals (Continued)

19.1 Directors’ remuneration (Continued)
During the financial year, no Director or any of the highest
paid individuals waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments (2021: nil). No emoluments were paid by the
Group to the Directors or any of the highest paid
individuals of the Group as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office as
a Director of any member of the Group or of any other
office in connection with the management of the affairs of
any member of the Group (2021: nil).

19.2 Five highest paid individuals
The five highest paid individuals of the Group included 4
(2021: 4) Directors for the year, whose emoluments are
reflected in Note 19.1.

The analysis of the emolument of the remaining 1 (2021:
1) highest paid individual (who is a key management
personnel) for the year is set out below:

19 BFHFMEAZESHALT@®

19.1

19.2

EEHH(E)

RAMBFEE  BEESEST AR
FALIHESRAERETAH S
(20214F : ) - NEFEMMmAES
EAREBFMERTALZAMESE
ARSI EMAREE L MAKERDE
MERERIEAREASEBEMKER
BEERM e EEIR A LB I MK E
AR EHA BT E MBI A EE
(2021 4F : £&) o

hEEEHFALT

RERN - AEBRERSFHALERE
47 (20214F 1 4R)EFE - EMSF
BERHIFE19.1 -

RER - B TI18(2021F 18) &
EHAT(GERTIEEEAE) N
ESOMEFOT -

2022 2021

2022 F 20214

$°000 $'000

Fx Tt

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind &4 - FE8E R EWET 199 199
Discretionary bonuses BOISTEAT 45 45
Defined contributions FUE K 13 13
257 257

The emolument paid to this individual fell within the
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 band for the financial
years ended 30.9.2022 and 30.9.2021.

RE £2022F9 A30H &20214F9
AS0BLEMBFEENERALTH
B <5 /B8 74 1,000,001 78 7T 2 1,500,000
VETCELE ©
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20 Taxation I8
2022 2021
2022 £ 2021 4
$°000 $’000
Fx Tt
Current taxation BIEATR I8
— changes in estimates in respect of — BAFENGEE
prior years (107) (35)
(107) (35)
Deferred taxation (Note 11) PEIERETE (FIaE11)
— current year — KEE 102 110
— changes in estimates in respect of — BAEFEMLEIES
prior years (227) (174)
(125) (64)
(232) (99)

The tax expense on the results of the financial year varies from
the amount of income tax determined by applying the applicable

ETHERZE  MREEARENRS
R B RINERERNEFHENEHE

rate of income tax on accounting profits as a result of the FrEERIFTST &5 ¢
following:
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
$°000 $000
F T
Profit before taxation BBt Al 7 28 147
Tax at statutory rates applicable to EARTRENAERAEEMRE
different jurisdictions 36 65
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses 7~ A] F1755 i 5% # i 75 o 2 67 59
Tax effect on non-taxable income IERTMAN B & (1) (14)
Changes in estimates in respect of BEFEOGEE
prior years
— current taxation — BPEARIE (107) (35)
— deferred taxation — ELFIE (227) (174)
(232) (99)

Non-deductible expenses mainly relate to depreciation of non-

qualifying property, plant and equipment.
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20 Taxation (Continued)

21

Cayman Islands
The Company is not subject to taxes on profit, income or
dividends in the Cayman Islands.

BVI
The subsidiary in BVI, SPP Investments, is not subject to
income tax as it is tax exempted under the laws of BVI.

Singapore

The corporate income tax rate applicable to the principal
operating subsidiary in Singapore, Sunlight Paper, is 17% for
the financial years ended 30.9.2022 and 30.9.2021.

Earnings per Share

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share was
based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of
$260,000 (2021: $246,000), and a weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding of 800,000,000 (2021:
800,000,000).

Diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per
share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares
outstanding in the financial years ended 30.9.2022 and
30.9.2021.

20

21

FTE ()
MERE
RATBERBESHENRT - WALR
BRR -

RERLHEES
HRRERBREZHSWWE R AISPP
Investments IR IE X B R L B AR ERH R
B WBBESNFTEH -

03

W £2022F 9 308 K&202149 A30
AL BEEHRMEEELLEMERT
Sunlight Paperil R (R ZE TSR B17% o

SR F

BRERREERMNDIRE L BRER
JEE &% F1) 260,000 7T.(2021 £ : 246,000 7T)
RBEATIESNG E @ AR A N F 19 2
800,000,000 % (2021 4F : 800,000,000 f% )

S o

P # =2022%9 30 H K202149 430
AIEMRFEL BETHEINNECHEE
A A SRESRNRSRERAF
R -
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22 Equity-settled Share-based Payment 22 UHEEGHEEUARGDAERON
Transactions K5
The Company has a share option scheme (the “Share Option RARE—IEEREAE([IERETE ) -
Scheme”) which was approved and adopted by the ZIAMBRERTEEAR R R RN 20184F 3
shareholders of the Company by way of written resolutions A21BBBEmMAREMERRR - BF
passed on 21.3.2018. No share option has been granted since RS A LAZK - BRI B AR A -

the commencement of the Share Option Scheme.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share NI RERESSIEZRRIME
Option Scheme:

(@) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme (a) BRETENEN
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the BIRERTE B EEARR A REES
Company to grant options to selected participants as HATEDERE (EARFHAA
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the BIFTEE RAR 2ED Sk [l 4
Company.

(b) Participants of the Share Option Scheme and (b) BRENBZSHEATIREGEREE
eligibility criteria
The eligible persons of the Share Option Scheme to MEESGR THERE 2 BRET S
whom options may be granted by the Board shall include AERZEATARESE2HEBER
any directors, employee, executives, officers, suppliers, AREREEELERE - ERIEEM
customers, consultants, agents, advisers, joint venture BE - EE  1THABR  a4EE -
partners and related entities, who at the absolute HER TP #FWAREE
discretion of the Board, has contributed to the Group B aeBHERBATR(EERBA
(“Eligible Person”). )

() Maximum number of Shares available for () EEHIBRAHE
subscription
The total number of Shares which may be issued upon BRI R T B H A AT R AR i 1
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share TR A] FEITROR D B EA KI5
Option Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed {838 80,000,000 % (FHE R ZZ48 A
80,000,000, representing 10% of the total number of B mEAPNEHITRMEBH
Shares in issue as at the date of these consolidated 10%) °

financial statements.
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B Z2022F9 A30 B I EFHE

22 Equity-settled Share-based Payment 22 RRFHEURDBERNN

Transactions (Continued) KR 5 (&

(d) Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person (d BEEERALTTEZLR
The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon EEA12EAHE BRFZEER
exercise of the options granted to each Eligible Person ATHEERE (BEREBERET S
(including both exercised and outstanding options under BATHE XM AR TEREIRE) BTE
the Share Option Scheme) in any 12-month period (when BT R T ETHRM ER - H
aggregated with any Shares subject to options granted 5% HA AR 8 AN A B A {A) L Ath g AR AE
during such period under any other share option FrEIR LM ERE (T RERERE
scheme(s) of the Company other than those options RIRERE LERIHEMRLNZE
granted pursuant to specific approval by the Shareholders B TR ERBRDEE - T
in a general meeting) must not exceed 1% of the issued BBBARAIEEITRAN1% o

share capital of the Company.

Where any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder WA — B EEZRRLBILIFNTES
or an independent non-executive Director or any of their SRR ES B ZBHEATREEM
respective associates would result in the Shares issued BigE  SERNEEE@ER LA
and to be issued upon exercise of all options already (BHEZB) IE121@ A 83 - RIS
granted and to be granted (including options exercised, IR iEET Bk AR A K An B AR 5T
cancelled and outstanding) under the Share Option e RBETRATZEEERE
Scheme or any other share option schemes of the (BREETE - BFE#EENARITED
Company to such person in the 12-month period up to AR BT BEERBTFEITZ
and including the date of such grant: (i) representing in f&f : ()A LHBBEEHITIRN0.1%
aggregate more than 0.1% of the Shares in issue; and (ii) MVESFR L AR ERER
having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of FrE et B E - BEBRES
the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued BEAT  AlE—SEOERENE
by the Stock Exchange on the date of each grant, in BRI A -

excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of options must
be approved by the Shareholders.
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22 Equity-settled Share-based Payment

Transactions (Continued)

(e) Time of exercise of option
An option may be accepted by a participant within 28
days from the date of the offer of grant of the option. An
option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during the option
period. After the expiration of the option period, no further
options shall be offered or granted but the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and
effect in all other respects. Options granted during the life
of the Share Option Scheme shall continue to be
exercisable in accordance with their terms of grant after
the end of the ten-year period.

() Subscription price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option
granted under the Share Option Scheme, subject to any
adjustments made in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme, shall be such price as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, provided that such price shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of grant of the option (which must be a
Business Day); (i) the average closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet
for the five Business Days immediately preceding the date
of grant of the option (which must be a Business Day);
and (jii) the nominal value of the Shares. A consideration
of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the offer of the
grant of an option.
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B Z2022F9 A30 B I EFHE

22 Equity-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions (Continued)

(9)

Life of the Share Option Scheme

The Company may, by ordinary resolution in general
meeting, or the Board may at any time terminate the
operation of the Share Option Scheme and in such event
no further option shall be offered or granted but in all
other respects the provisions of the Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect and options granted
prior to such termination shall continue to be valid and
exercisable in accordance with the Share Option Scheme.
Subject to the aforesaid, the Share Option Scheme shall
be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing from the date of adoption, after which
period no further options will be offered or granted but the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full
force and effect in all other respects with respect to
options granted during the life of the Share Option
Scheme.

23 Significant Related Party Transactions

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial

statements, there were no significant related party transactions
for the financial years ended 30.9.2022 and 30.9.2021.

24

Commitments

Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for as at the end of the reporting

period but not recognised in the consolidated financial

statements is as follows:

22

23

24

At s B AR RER

T X

=+
TAX
(9)

EPN

2 (@

BREFENEREH™
ARR(BBERRAGEBERR
AR REEGUNERRMRLE
fRiEEt BIREE - BRI EHENE
kR R A - BRI &R
EMBEMTEBERS TR RE
X MBS LR MR
RS A B AR B P B AT 8 R A AU
A TIT6E o A LMERRT - BAUE
Bl R B R T FERERRE
M HETSBEARB SR HER
1 - BRB AR ST SIS EL EB AR AT B
BRHARHNBREMSEMBE
77 A 445 T R AR

RESTR5

BRERa M MR E MU PAREE I 7
B £2022F9A30H K2021F9A30R
L BFEHBEERBETRS -

AHE

BEXEE
RIBEHREFTHERNGEE P HRKE
RHEARFAT

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
$°000 $'000
Ft Tt
Capital commitments in respect of HE - BB MREER®
property, plant and equipment BARAEYE 341 507
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25 Z@M/‘\ﬁg

mMEZEEERRE(RERDTHRER)E

25 Operating Segments

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker, who
is the Group’s CEOQ, for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of performance is specifically focused on the key
products sold, namely, tissue products and hygiene-related
products.

Information regarding the results of each reportable segment is
included below. Performance is measured based on the
following bases, as included in the internal management reports
that are reviewed by the Group’s CEO. Both segment revenue
and profit are used to measure performance as management
believes that such information is the most relevant in evaluating
the level of activities and results of these segments.

° Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable
segments with reference to revenue generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments.
Assistance provided by one segment to another, including
sharing of assets, is not measured.

° The measure used for reporting segment profit is gross
profit.

° Management considers the disclosure of segment assets
and liabilities for tissue products, hygiene-related products
and others respectively is not practical and not
meaningful. Hence, no disclosure of segment assets and
liabilities has been made.

° In addition to receiving segment information concerning
segment profit, management is provided with segment
information concerning revenue.

There are no operating segments that have been aggregated to
form the above reportable operating segments.
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25 Operating Segments (Continued) 25 REDE ()
Hygiene-
Tissue related
products products Others Total
BE
BEEER HBER Hith st
$000 $'000 $'000 $000
T T T T
2022 2022 F
Revenue from external REINEPRF R
customers and reportable KAl 2oy E U
segment revenue 10,579 878 563 12,020
Segment profit 72854 Fl 2,343 332 107 2,782
2021 2021 &
Revenue from external REINBRF R
customers and reportable PEIEx Fonsi €
segment revenue 9,740 1,049 977 11,766
Segment profit 53 504 K| 2,396 436 51 2,883
Reconciliations of reportable segment profit o 2 |7 IEF W E IR
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4F
$°000 $000
Fr T
Reportable segment profit 2D EEEF 2,782 2,883
Other income =N 111 214
Unallocated expenses FoEERX (2,853) (2,936)
Interest expenses FER% (12) (14)
Consolidated profit before taxation FEABRT RS 28 147
The Group’s revenue arises from external customers located in REBEMWE R B RFTINERIINTEE S ©
Singapore. The Group carries out its operations in Singapore REBRIMINEHEITEE  BASKEMRAE
and all of the Group’s non-current assets are located in FEMENE N AR N o
Singapore.
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25 Operating Segments (Continued) 25 & nE )
Major customers FEEF
The following are major customers with revenue equal to or T AREZE202299 A30H X 202149
more than 10% of the Group’s total revenue for the financial AB0BIEMBFEMAEEARZHER
years ended 30.9.2022 and 30.9.2021: LERI0%HEBZR
2022 2021
2022 F 20214
$°000 $000
Ft Fit
Customer A EFEA 1,749 1,494
Customer B ZFEB 1,365 1,291
3,114 2,785
26 Subsidiaries 26 KB AR
Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the financial year are: RABEERNNBAREESA -
Country of
incorporation/
Principal place
of business Particulars of
and form issued and fully
of business paid up share
Name Principal activities structure capital Percentage of equity held
AMAIER/
TEERBAR  CROR
&R TEEH ERRRPS  BERANEE FrERERD L

2022 2021
2022 20214

Held by the Company BADNAMES

SPP Investments Limited @ SPP Investments Limited @  Investment holding BVI/Singapore, 1 100% 100%
RERR limited liability
company
AEETHE/
Mg ERER
A7
Held by SPP Investments  F1 SPP Investments
Limited Limited 7358
Sunlight Paper Products Sunlight Paper Products  Supply of tissue products to Singapore/ $580,000 100% 100%
Pte. Ltd. © Pte. Ltd. © corporate customers Singapore,
MEERPHREGERER  limited liabiity
company
R/ $E
BREEAHA
@ Not required to be audited @ 8T AT
©) Audited by Foo Kon Tan LLP, a principal member firm of HLB ©) H Foo Kon Tan LLP C&E BB EEK E R
International EDEIA
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27 Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies

The Group has documented financial risk management policies.
These policies set out the Group’s overall business strategies
and its risk management philosophy. The Group is exposed to

27

B b 3R B AR SRR

AEBER IR BRREERE - &
SHENARRENEREHRR LA
RERE S o AR EEGELERTAHY

financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial BTASIEMNMEER - FZUFRAKRE
instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, liquidity EEERR - neELRER - FIXEAR -
risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and market price SNEE RS N TS B AR - REERELE

risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to

R ERFERERRTRERTEHT
AERERL  YHKRESRTZHT

minimise adverse effects from the unpredictability of financial AIEREEHAEBMBRIBAABRK 2T
markets on the Group’s financial performance. Mz -

The Group’s risk management policies are established to

AR [ 1 [ B X RO B AR B AN o0 A AR

identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set SEEBEMNRER - WREEEAERR
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and FEHIFE fE ARSI @ R R B ER I S E A -

adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are
reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and
the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and
management standards and procedures, aims to develop a
disciplined and constructive control environment in which all
employees understand their roles and obligations.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these
financial risks or the manner in which it manages and measures
the risks. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity
analysis for interest rate risk (Note 27.3) and foreign currency
risk (Note 27.4).

The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes or to hedge against
fluctuations, if any, in interest rates and foreign exchange.

R B ECGE R RAATE HETEMUR
MTISRERAEBELEZTHHE( - K
SERBHBNIMERGTERER B
BEVALAEERERENEIRE  £15
SRERHMEREREFOEINACRKSE
7% o

AREBFAENZSVERBHEEER
BERRNTAALEEL - THRERIIE
FA M) 2= @B (BT 52 27.3) Ko o0l B (B 5
27 4) MBURE DT E -

AEEY EFEHETITEMBTEES
BEZRARMER/NERIERSE (IF)HEH
o
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27 Financial Risk Management Objectives and 27 BIFSEREIE BAZ MBUR (@)
Policies (Continued)
27.1 Credit risk 271 FERK

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial
instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause
the Group to incur a financial loss. The Group’s exposure
to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other
receivables. For trade receivables, the Group adopts the
practice of dealing only with those customers of
appropriate credit history, and obtaining sufficient security
where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. For other
financial assets, the Group adopts the policy of dealing
only with high credit quality counterparties.

The Group’s objective is to seek continual growth while
minimising losses incurred due to increased credit risk
exposure.

The Group has established a credit policy under which
the creditworthiness of each new customer is evaluated
individually before the Group grants credit to the
customer. Credit limits are established for each customer,
which represents the maximum open amount without
requiring approval from the directors. Payments will be
required to be made upfront by customers which do not
meet the Group’s credit requirements.

Amounts due from customers are closely monitored and
reviewed on a regular basis to identify any non-payment
or delay in payment, and to understand the reasons, so
that appropriate actions can be taken promptly. Through
on-going credit monitoring and existing collection
procedures in place, credit risk is mitigated substantially.

The Group’s trade receivables comprise three major
debtors (2021: two major debtors), which individually
represent more than 5% of the Group’s trade receivables
as at 30.9.2022. The aggregate balance of the major
debtors represent 33% (2021: 26%) of trade receivables.
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27 Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (Continued)

27.1 Credit risk (Continued)

Amount not paid after the credit period granted will be
considered past due. The credit terms granted to
customers are based on the Group’s assessment of their
creditworthiness and in accordance with the Group’s

policy.

The Group has trade and other receivables and cash and
bank balances that are subject to the expected credit loss
model. While other receivables and cash and bank
balances are subject to the impairment requirements of
IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss is insignificant.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses (“ECLs”) which uses a
lifetime ECL allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the ECLs, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due. The expected loss rates are based on
the payment profiles of sales over a period of 36 months
and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the trade receivables. The Group has
identified gross domestic product and the unemployment
rate of the countries in which it operates to be the most
relevant factors and accordingly adjusts the historical loss
rates based on expected changes in these factors.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, among
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Group.

27

SRR EIE B IENMBGR (8)

271 FERR (&)

R EEERRADAR A B IAR
BREaH - BRTEFPNEEHRDER
AEBBEEEREREERKM
5 o
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B 5 M EAEUGRIAA FIR & R IRTT
MEER - BEEMBURIEARIRE R
RITRESRBEBBIR M RS ERE
9SRAVBERE - 1B P8Rl RO R E &
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B EWHHE
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27 Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

271

27.2

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables

Loss allowance for other receivables is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs. The ECLs on other
receivables are estimated by reference to track record of
the counterparties, their business and financial conditions
where information is available, and knowledge of any
events or circumstances impeding recovery of the
amounts. At the end of the reporting period, no loss
allowance for other receivables is required.

Cash and bank balances

Cash is held with banks which are regulated. Loss
allowance on cash and bank balances is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs and reflects the short
maturities of the exposures. The Group considers that its
bank balances have low credit risk based on the external
credit ratings of the counterparties. The amount of loss
allowance on cash and bank balances is negligible.

Exposure to credit risk

As the Group does not hold any collateral, the maximum
exposure to credit risk for each class of financial
instruments is the carrying amount of that class of
financial instruments presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group’s major classes of financial assets are bank
deposits and trade receivables. Cash is held with
established financial institutions. Further details of credit
risks on trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note
7.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter
difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated
with financial instruments that are settled by delivering
cash or another financial asset. Liquidity risk may result
from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at close to
its fair value.

The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from
mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and
liabilities. The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility through the
use of stand-by credit facilities.
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27 Financial Risk Management Objectives and 27 BIFREREIE BAZ MBUR (@)
Policies (Continued)
27.2 Liquidity risk (Continued) 272 REBELEK(E)
The table below analyses the maturity profile of the TROMAEEIZE Z’]ﬁiﬁﬁiﬁiﬁ Sapi
Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual EENTHAERNEEE)
undiscounted cash flows:
Contractual
Carrying undiscounted Lessthan  Between 1 More than
amount cash flows 1year and5years 5years
ENRER 15%
HREE RERE 15/ B55RK HBiB5F
$000 $000 $000 $:000 $000
Fr Tr Fr T T
2022 2022 F
Non-derivative financial {74 BEE
liabilities
Borrowings (Note 12) B3 (FE12) 9 9 9 - -
Lease liability (Note 13) HEARE(MF13) 226 263 33 130 100
Trade and other payables* & 5 & E i {708 *
(Note 14) GEAD) 1,463 1,463 1,463 - -
1,698 1,735 1,505 130 100
2021 20214
Non-derivative financial FEfT4£MBEE
liabilities
Borrowings (Note 12) fE 3R (HE12) 1,658 1,660 1,651 9 -
Lease liability (Note 13) HEBE([E13) 249 295 33 130 132
Trade and other payables® 25 & H i fe (S 3018
(Note 14) (FzE14) 1,901 1,901 1,901 - -
3,808 3,856 3,585 139 132

*

Excluding net output tax

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the
maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at
significantly different amounts.

The Group ensures that there are adequate funds to meet
all its obligations in a timely and cost-effective manner.
The Group maintains sufficient level of cash and bank
balances and has available adequate amount of
committed credit facilities from financial institutions to
meet its working capital requirements.

* TEIEHARIFER

BHZHASTHNESRETEAR
BRI HEATRO S FEE
Ao

REBRERE TN E R MERKE
MEEITEMBEL - AEE#E
RHHIR S RIRITHERF - LAEFR
HWATANERESRRBERERE N
ENEEBEESFR -
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27 Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

27.3

27.4

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily
from bank balances at floating rates. Bank loan and lease
liability bear interest at fixed rates. All other financial
assets and liabilities are interest-free.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of
the interest-bearing financial instruments is as follows:

27 BirgR ke

27.3

0 e 1R B AR SRR ()

F=mEk

MEREBR AR EEM T TANRFE
FARRIRERE R TIHM E BB
BRBEER -

AEBEMEBONERREEREF
BRTER - ROTEFRBERER
BIEMEEE - FIEEMBMBEER
BEARE -

RImERR - S EMBTANKEE
s

2022 2021
2022 F 2021 4
$°000 $°000
Ft Fit
Fixed rate instruments EEIR
Financial liabilities HizaE
— bank loan — BITER 9) (115)
— lease liability —HEaE (226) (249)
(235) (364)
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments EEBTABN TFEGEEST
A change in interest rates on the fixed rate instruments at BREARNELTANEESH IR
the end of the reporting period would not affect profit or 2B ©

loss.

The Group’s policy is to obtain the most favourable
interest rates available without increasing its interest rate
exposure.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. Foreign currency risk arises when
transactions are denominated in foreign currencies.

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising
from transactions that are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the Company and its
subsidiaries, Singapore dollar (“SGD”). The foreign
currency in which these transactions are denominated is
primarily Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”).
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27 Financial Risk Management Objectives and 27 EAFSREBR B IR B AR MR (g)

Policies (Continued)

27.4 Foreign currency risk (Continued) 27.4 HSNERRR(4E)

Consequently, the Group is exposed to movements in
foreign currency exchange rates.

The Group’s exposures in financial instruments to various
foreign currencies are as follows:

Btk - AR5 T R OMNEE R 2 B,

LA

oo o
ZoN

AEEN BT AmGNHSEINER
RN

HKD
BT
$'000
FT
2022 2022
Cash and bank balances Be MIRTTHES 30
2021 2021 F
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTHEH 5

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in the HKD exchange rates
(against SGD), with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s results net of tax and equity.

ST BB E 5 AT
TERIIREFE RS BT ROER
T AR ERBB RS R4
T 4TINS ) #0238 T A 8
BB -

2022 2021
2022 £ 2021 4
$°000 $'000
Fr T
HKD — strengthened 5% (2021: 5%) #1 — FHES5% (2021 4F : 5%) 2 =
— weakened 5% (2021: 5%) — §2185% (2021 4 : 5%) 2 =
* less than $1,000 * A H1,0007T
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HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBEFE

27 Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)
27.5 Market price risk
Market price risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market prices.

The Group does not hold any quoted or marketable
financial instruments, hence, is not exposed to any
movement in market prices.

28 Capital Management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

(@ To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern;

(b)  To support the Group’s stability and growth;

(c) To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the
Group’s risk management capability; and

(d) To provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future capital
requirements of the Group, and capital efficiency, prevailing and
projected profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected
capital expenditures and projected strategic investment
opportunities. The Group currently does not adopt any formal
dividend policy.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital
management during the financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
for financial year ended 30.9.2022
HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBFE

28 Capital Management (Continued) 28 BAREIE @)
The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital AREEWEZ D INEHENNEARENR -
requirements.
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net AEEFMAEEEBBELXRERER  AIF
debt divided by total capital plus net debt. Net debt comprises ERRABERNFER - FEERIEE
borrowings, lease liability and trade and other payables, less N HEBBUARE S R E A B FRIER
cash and bank balances. Total capital represents equity ReRIBITER - BEAREARARREE A
attributable to owners of the Company. JEfRHERS ©
2022 2021
2022 F 2021 F
Note $’000 $°000
P 5 Fx Fx
Borrowings fBx 12 9 1,658
Lease liability HEAE 13 226 249
Trade and other payables Z 5 REMENFOE 14 1,514 1,989
Total debt 1B E 1,749 3,896
Less: Cash and bank balances B e RIRITHE 8 (807) (3,744)
Net debt B F5 942 152
Equity attributable to owners of RAEIHEB ANELER
the Company 16,375 15,971
Total capital and net debt EERRLEKFE 17,317 16,123
Gearing ratio AREFELE 5% 1%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RR

for financial year ended 30.9.2022
HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBEFE

29 Financial Instruments 29 HIBIA
Accounting classifications of financial assets and MR EERMEEENETSE
financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
in each category are as follows:

SRR AE RAT A EOREEDT

Other financial

Amortised liabilities at
cost amortised cost Total
R SR A
HIBRE Hpb
R A o S=N @st
Note $°000 $'000 $'000
FiaE FIT FIT T
2022 2022 F
Financial assets BMKEE
Trade and other receivables* & 5 & H fib g U 778 * 7 2,213 - 2,213
Cash and bank balances B MRITES 8 807 - 807
3,020 - 3,020
Financial liabilities g S=RE
Borrowings B0 12 - 9 9
Lease liability HERE 13 - 226 226
Trade and other payables H 5 R EMEMNTIE 14 - 1,463 1,463
- 1,698 1,698
2021 2021
Financial assets BREE
Trade and other receivables* & 5 [z H t fE g 008 * 7 1,628 - 1,628
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITHES 8 3,744 - 3,744
5,372 - 5,372
Financial liabilities g 3=RE
Borrowings EN 12 - 1,658 1,658
Lease liability HEBE 13 - 249 249
Trade and other payables* B REMERKIEY 14 - 1,901 1,901
- 3,808 3,808
* Excluding advances to suppliers and tax recoverable ) 1?;@%321# TR R B R IA R
# Excluding net output tax # TR FEIHIBRF R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MWK

for financial year ended 30.9.2022

B Z2022F9 A30 B I EFHE

29 Financial Instruments (Continued) 29 BB IT A
Fair values NTE

The face value less any estimated credit adjustments for
financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one
year, comprising trade and other receivables (excluding
advances to suppliers and tax recoverable), cash and bank
balances, short-term borrowings, and trade and other payables,
(excluding net output tax), are assumed to approximate their fair
values. The fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current
market interest rate available to the Group for similar financial
instruments.

The fair value disclosure of lease liability is not required.

Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair
value, by valuation method. The different levels have been
defined as follows:

R—FRIMNUBEERAG  BRE
5 MEAEYFR (MBS N FHER
BRRGIERY) - RE RIRITES - EH
ERARE SR E RN IR (T BEHE
BFRR)) WEEREMEF EERENR
BEREEEQNFERE - HEMBEEN
RPER - DRAEEREER B TAR
BORTHENE - BREAOWEZRE
BRIRGH -

BEREREHERENATE-

DFHESERAIE

TREGHEEDTARFEABHTHEL
B TRBRINEERMAT :

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for E14 - HREEXARERTISHNNRE
identical assets or liabilities; (RFAE)

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 E2f - BEXNABENBAZREBAH R
that are observable for the asset or liability, either BE1RAINNRE - TmEE
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from (BME#H) sk (B ERITE) ¢
prices); and &

Level 3: inputs for the assets or liability that are not based on 3 EERBENBASBILIEEAR

observable market data.

AR ISEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2022
HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBEFE

29 Financial Instruments (Continued) 29 BT A )
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AFEERSE(E)
Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value but for WA FEASEEHREL AT ENG
which fair values are disclosed * BERAE"
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE1R 3 EIR st
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Fr Fr Fr
2022 2022
Bank loan RITER 9 - 9
2021 2021 F
Bank loan RITER 115 - 115
* Exclude financial assets and financial liabilities whose carrying * TEEREAREHEKN AT 2HERNTE
amounts measured on the amortised cost basis approximate HENFBEERMBEE REARKSE
their fair values due to their short-term or repayable on demand BREAMESNIEERER  BMRFEY
nature and where the effect of discounting is immaterial TEX
The carrying amounts of interest-bearing loans that reprice RS ERANEARNEREENTEER
within six months of the end of the reporting period approximate FREEEAEATEES FBHMGEE
their fair values. The fair values of all other interest-bearing loans HEIR ifﬁ THiRHR AL IR T8 B R SRR & J A
are calculated based on discounted expected future principal BEREREFE -
and interest cash flows.
30 Dividends 30 RRE

No dividends were declared for the financial years ended
30.9.2022 and 30.9.2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE BRI
for financial year ended 30.9.2022
HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBFE

31 Statement of Financial Position and Reserves of 31 A FIEBI &< & i

the Company

31.1 Statement of Financial Position

31.1 R E

2022 2021
2022 2021 4
$°000 $000
Fr Fi
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment in subsidiary R BQRNIRE = -
Current assets REEE
Prepayments ERFE 25 23
Amount due from a subsidiary (non-trade)  FEW— I B AR ZIE (EBS) 5,697 2,731
Cash and bank balances B RRITERS 30 5
Total assets EEHAE 5,752 2,759
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals HipE B R EEA 27 22
27 22
Net current assets REEEFHE 5,725 2,787
Total assets less current liabilities EEBRERRBEE 5,725 2,787
Net assets BEEFE 5,725 2,737
EQUITY xR
Equity attributable to owners of RAREBAEGES
the Company
Share capital R AR 1,338 1,338
Reserves & 4,387 1,399
Total equity EREE 5,725 2,737
* less than $1,000 A H1,0007T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

for financial year ended 30.9.2022
HZ= 202249 A0 HIEMBEFE

31 Statement of Financial Position and Reserves of 31 ZNA TR 5% K fE48 (a)
the Company (Continued)
31.2 Reserves 31.2 fH#fE
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
MR A5 E 25t EE Fo
$°000 $'000 $°000
T Fr Fr
Balance at 1.10.2020 720205108 1H
ZiEt 6,221 (1,419) 4,802
Loss for the year, representing FAEE  EBEFEAEE
total comprehensive loss for the year  fE51842%8 - (3,403) (3,408)
Balance at 30.9.2021 MR 2021%F9H30H
Z it 6,221 (4,822) 1,399
Balance at 1.10.2021 MR2021%E1081H
2B ER 6,221 (4,822) 1,399
Profit for the year, representing FREN - FBERNEA
total comprehensive income for gyt
the year - 2,988 2,988
Balance at 30.9.2022 7A2022%9A30H
2R 6,221 (1,834) 4,387

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board on 16.12.2022 and was signed on its
behalf.

Chua Liang Sie
BRE

Director

EE
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

HRERBE
RESULTS E
FY2022 Fy2021 FY2020 FY2019 FY2018
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
BHFEE FRFE MRFEE BREE BREE
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
Fr Tt Tt Tt Tt
Revenue U 2% 12,020 11,766 13,227 15,468 13,635
Profit/(Loss) for the year & &%,/ (E18) 260 246 397 410 (1,303)
Total comprehensive FEREEWES
income/(loss) (E18) 458
for the year 404 283 538 853 (1,303)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
At At At At At
30.9.2022 30.9.2021 30.9.2020 30.9.2019 30.9.2018
20224 2021 4 2020 20194 #2018 4
9H30H 9HA30H 9H30H 9H30H 9H30H
$°000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $'000
Fx Tt Tt Tt Tt
Total assets BERTH 19,176 21,014 26,232 19,256 18,325
Total liabilities B EgE (2,801) (5,043) (10,544) (4,106) (4,028)
Total equity R 16,375 15,971 15,688 15,150 14,297
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

In this report, the following expressions shall have the meanings set out below unless the context requires otherwise.

EARRET - BRIEXER B T

“AGM”
[BERAEAFKE]

“Articles” or “Articles of Association”

[ARRI ) = [ E 2 Am A )

“associate(s)”
B YN

“Audit Committee”

[BIEEE

JImo
i3

2 |

“Board of Directors” or “Board”

[E=g)

“Board Committee(s)” or “Committee”

[E=gZBg] 282

“BVI”
[RBRELES]

“CG Code”

[EERTA

“Chairman” or “our Chairman”
[EFE] K [EARARINERE]

“China” or “PRC”

[ Bl

“close associate(s)”
[ERHEA

AEBMTRE

annual general meeting of the Company
RARRRBEFRE

articles of association of our Company adopted on 21.3.2018 and which
became effective on the Listing Date, as amended from time to time
720183 A21 BEM KA L B HARR A A AR el A A =2 A A (SE B ET)

has the meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules
BB GEM LR BfE T 8 2

the audit committee of our Board, established on 21.3.2018 with written
terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision C.3.3 of the CG Code
EEFGRETERZET  MN2018F3A21 AKX - WIRHEEIATREC.3.3
16<F BIME ST 3 TE Il 5T B E T I 46 ]

the board of Directors of our Company
RARESRE

the committee of our Board

Exg%8e

the British Virgin Islands
KBRS

the code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules
GEM iR A 8+ RFTE bR E)a<FRIE 2 3P AKX

the chairman of our Board
EREgXRE

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this report and for
geographical reference only, excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
REARANE  stAmEmhs MEHRWE2EME - TEEEE  RFEE

i
=

has the meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules
H 7B GEM LR Bl PR AR T #0)R 5%
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“Companies Ordinance”
INSIEESEN

» o

“Company”, “our Company”, “we” or “us”

(AR =[5

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ 45 R s R
“core connected person(s)”
[z BEAL]

“Deed of Non-competition”

[T#F R

“Director(s)”

[E=%]

“FY2021”
[2021 BAREF E |

“FY2022”

[2022 B/ E |
“FY2023”

[2023 B/ E |
“GEM”

[GEM]

“GEM Listing Rules”

[GEM Emi#5 81

the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or modified from time to time
BARERT - MAUSHEHEBENFE 622 B 2 BRG]

Sunlight (1977) Holdings Limited ( B¢ (1977) R B R A R]), an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 21.9.2017 with limited
liability
BRATNERBER AT - R2017F9 A21 BEMENSTMK M ERRE
[E YN

has the meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules and unless the
context requires otherwise, refers to Mr. LS Chua, Mr. LC Chua and YJH
Group. Mr. LS Chua, Mr. LC Chua and YJH Group are a group of controlling
shareholders

HBEGEM ETRAIFAE THRE - MIEXESEME  BERBRE - ZHRPH
FERYIHER - BRBEA R PEERYIHEER R —EERRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the GEM Listing Rules
B A GEM TR A PriE 7 8% &

the deed of non-competition dated 21.3.2018 and executed by our
Controlling Shareholders in favour of our Company (for ourselves and as
trustee for our subsidiaries)
ERBRRARRBRZ DA (BERARRIELEWBARNZFEA)FE Y A E
7201843 A21 AW THFRIE

the director(s) of our Company

RRRER

financial year ended 30.9.2021
BHZE2021 49 A0 AL BFE

financial year ended 30.9.2022
BHZE202249 A0 AL BFE

financial year ending 30.9.2023
BZE202349 A0 AL BFE

GEM operated by the Stock Exchange
FH B 22 P& (E B GEM

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM, as amended,

supplemented or modified from time to time
EAFHEE] ~ AR EWMAGEME S L3 Al
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

” o« [T

“Group”, “our Group”, “we”,

[ZRE&EE | 5 [#MA)

HHKDH OI’ nHK$U
bl

“Hong Kong” or “HK”
(&

“IFRSs”
[ T sR & 2R

“independent third party(ies)”
[ E=7]

“jumbo roll tissue” or “JRT”
[ REFEAHEL]

“Listing”
[ 7]

“Listing Date”
[T EH]

“Main Board”

[ER]

“Memorandum” or “Memorandum of
Association”
[ K40 sk [4AEERE K4 ]

our” or “us”

our Company and our subsidiaries or, where the context so requires, with
respect to the period before which our Company became the holding
company of our current subsidiaries, our Company’s current subsidiaries or
the businesses operated by such subsidiaries or their predecessors (as the
case may be)

RARREWBRG M XESEME  RARBKBERENBERRNE
AR ZAEIE - AIIEARRRBMBARRZEMBARSRER S AT (R
TESTE ) EATHI TS

Hong Kong dollars and cents, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
B ETEEEAT BN

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of PRC
HEEBRRITTERR

International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board
BIfR & 5T A& B & M a) BIRE W s 5 2R

party(ies) which are not connected person(s) of our Company
WIEARRBIEEATHAL

toilet tissue that is commonly used in public toilet cubicles of commercial
buildings
[SEFNEUNEIESE)EES

the listing of the Shares on GEM
f& A7 GEM ki

16.4.2018, the date on which the Shares are listed on GEM
2018 4 A16 A D GEM £ A &8

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel with GEM. For
the avoidance of doubt, the Main Board excludes GEM

R PrEBRREZSM (T REERETS) - BY N GEM I EEWITERE - &
®ER - FRTEIEGEM

memorandum of association of our Company adopted on 21.3.2018 and which
became effective on the Listing Date, as amended from time to time
RRARNR201843 21 HRMMWABER KA B8 LT HPREN - KT

CH|

140  SUNLIGHT (1977) HOLDINGS LIMITED / Annual Report 2022



DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“Mr. LC Chua”

[BERPEAE]

“Mr. LS Chua”

(BRI

“Mr. WH Chua”

[E3085% 4%

“Mr. WJ Chua”

B R

“MYR” or “RM”

[2F

“Nomination Committee”

“paper pulp” or “pulp”

[#R4R ]

Mr. Chua Liang Chui (23 8 5t &), an executive Director, one of our Controlling
Shareholders, the younger brother of Mr. LS Chua and uncle of Mr. WH Chua
and Mr. WJ Chua

WITESEREP —BIERBRRERPALE - RERBAENRBRECEESE
REESREEHMR

Mr. Chua Liang Sie (3% R % 5t 4), an executive Director, chairman of our
Board and chief executive officer of our Company and one of our Controlling
Shareholders, the elder brother of Mr. LC Chua, and the father of Mr. WH
Chua and Mr. WJ Chua

WITEE EEREIRRAAFTRAHRAT —ZERRRERBRE - ”
BERBIEENP I RESOE R E RESURE LR

Mr. Chua Wenhao (alias Cai Wenhao) (%2 3% 5E &), an executive Director,
the son of Mr. LS Chua, the nephew of Mr. LC Chua and the elder brother of
Mr. WJ Chua

WITESEUERE  BRERELAANTEFURBER PEENERREXRE
=:0)p

Mr. Chua Wenijie (alias Cai Wenjie) (223X R4t 4E), an executive Director, the
son of Mr. LS Chua, the nephew of Mr. LC Chua and the younger brother of
Mr. WH Chua

HMITEZENRGE  RERBEENTETURER PEENER REUEE
EasliIES

Malaysian dollars and cents, the lawful currency of Malaysia
AR IRAE B S AR A T &AL

the nomination committee of our Board, established on 21.3.2018 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision B.3.1 of the CG
Code

EERE MREZE® - N2018F3A21 B - Wik EA<FRIFEB.3.1
1< BIME ST 3 TE Il 3T B T I 46 ]

per annum or per year
G

the raw material used to produce tissue paper, which includes recycle pulp,
soft wood pulp, hard wood pulp, virgin pulp, fluff pulp and mixed pulp
FEREGRMABREME - BEEWRAE - SURME BARE  RAEMARE A&
ERMOBAHE
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS

“Previous Year”

[E—%FE]

“Prospectus”
[k =12 ]

“Relevant Year”
[BEAFE ]

“Remuneration Committee”

Ed S

“Reorganisation”

[E#]

“Required Standard of Dealings”
[R5 W STIRAE |

“Restricted Business”

[ &R %E7%
“SFO”
[ 38 7 N B8 16401 |

“S$” or “SGD” or “$”
[Tl sk [ 7]

“Share(s)”
[ A&7 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ R3]

FY2021
2021 BT R

the prospectus of the Company dated 27.3.2018
AREIAHIA20184F 3 A 27 HAHEIRERR

FY2022
2022 BT R E

the remuneration committee of our Board, established on 21.3.2018 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG
Code

EZERTHHFNZES - N2018F3A21 AR - WIREFEEATAIFEEA2
16 <F BIME S 3 TE Il 5T L E T I 6 ]

the corporate reorganisation of our Group in preparation for the Listing as
described under the section “History, Reorganisation and Corporate
Structure — Reorganisation” of the Prospectus
FEBREREITMETHRARER  FEHANBRERIESL - EERAA]
BiE — BMHE] &

the required standard of dealings regarding securities transactions by the
Directors as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
GEM EHRAIFE 548 E 567 IRFIHERHETES R HNRH L FIRE

any business and related business activities engaged by our Group

AEBEFENEMRBERAARESEE

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
as amended, supplemented or modified from time to time
BERBEGEMN (BEENEST1E) - £ TREE] - Hrsisk

Singapore dollar(s), the lawful currency of Singapore
AR BB KT

ordinary share(s) of par value HK$0.01 each in the share capital of our
Company
AN R FREE0.01 BT h LAk

holder(s) of Shares
BHFEA
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“Share Offer”
[ fn 3 E ]

“Share Option Scheme”
[ AR AT &1 )
“Singapore”

[ 3703 |

“SPP Investments”

[ SPP Investments ]
“sq.m.”

(7K

“Stock Exchange” or “SEHK”
[ B2 P )

“subsidiary(ies)”
[ BT/~ &l ]

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”
[FERE]

“Sunlight Paper”

[ Sunlight Paper |

“United States” or “U.S.”
E3=

“USD” or “US$”
=

the public offer and placing of Shares in connection with the Listing
REMARBEREERN

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by our Company on
21.3.2018, a summary of principal terms of which is set out in “E. Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix V to the Prospectus

RARRKR2018F3 A 21 AR RGN BIRESE - EE2RFTH2EANA
IR EREMEE A [E BWAREsTE ]

the Republic of Singapore
FT N AN

SPP Investments Limited, a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability
on 6.10.2017 and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

SPP Investments Limited * 742017 F 10 A6 B E R B R LA ETMAINER
NE REARBINEEZEMEB LA

square metre(s)

FrK

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBAZHMBERDR]

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Companies Ordinance
HA R RGP T r R

a Shareholder within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO
HaEFMEEGEDEXV A2 EE IR

Sunlight Paper Products Pte. Ltd., a company incorporated in Singapore
with limited liability on 8.7.1977 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
our Company

Sunlight Paper Products Pte. Ltd. * 741977 &7 A8 BIEF I A LA E R
NE REARFINEEZENE LA

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction

ENRAaRE  HEL  HBMEXEREEENMETE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
EBEFEEKET
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DEFINITIONS AND GLOSSARY OF TECHNICAL TERMS
BERRMAR

“YJH Group” YJH Group Limited, a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability on
31.8.2017, one of our Controlling Shareholders, and is owned as to
approximately 82.76% by Mr. LS Chua and 17.24% by Mr. LC Chua.

[YIHEE | YJH Group Limited * 720178 A31 B ERBERE XS TMRUMNARAR
REMER —BERRER - BERBRERBRPEEDRITHE L B82.76% &
17.24% B AR 4

“%” per cent

[%] Aot

Notes: B 5 -

—  all dates are shown in d/dd.m/mm.yyyy format - FEEXEESHER/ R/ FBRART
— allfigures shown in $'m, $ million, $’000 and % are approximates —  FAEEEBRL TRkBESLHALUE
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